NASA/TM-20230013000



NASA Space Environment Analog for Training, Engineering, Science, and Technology (SEATEST) 6 Detailed Final Report

Harry L. Litaker, Jr. The Aerospace Corporation

Allison P. Porter NASA Johnson Space Center

Marcum L. Reagan NASA Johnson Space Center

Bill L. Todd NASA Johnson Space Center

Barbara A. Janoiko NASA Johnson Space Center Kara H. Beaton The Aerospace Corporation

Shonn F. Everett Booz Allen Hamilton

Jason E. Poffenberger The Aerospace Corporation

Taylor Phillips-Hungerford The Aerospace Corporation

Grier L. Wilt NASA Johnson Space Center

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Johnson Space Center Houston, Texas 77058

August 2023

NASA STI Program Office ... in Profile

Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA scientific and technical information (STI) program plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI program operates under the auspices of the Agency Chief Information Officer. It collects, organizes, provides for archiving, and disseminates NASA's STI. The NASA STI program provides access to the NTRS Registered and its public interface, the NASA Technical Report Server, thus providing one of the largest collections of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. Results are published in both non-NASA channels and by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA Programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA counterpart of peer-reviewed formal professional papers but has less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
 - CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or co-sponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and missions, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. English-language translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services also include organizing and publishing research results, distributing specialized research announcements and feeds, providing information desk and personal search support, and enabling data exchange services.

For more information about the NASA STI program, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI program home page at <u>http://www.sti.nasa.gov</u>
- E-mail your question to <u>help@sti.nasa.gov</u>
- Phone the NASA STI Information Desk at 757-864-9658
- Write to: NASA STI Information Desk Mail Stop 148 NASA Langley Research Center Hampton, VA 23681-2199

NASA/TM-000000



NASA Space Environment Analog for Training, Engineering, Science, and Technology (SEATEST) 6 Detailed Final Report

Harry L. Litaker, Jr. The Aerospace Corporation

Allison P. Porter NASA Johnson Space Center

Marcum L. Reagan NASA Johnson Space Center

Bill L. Todd NASA Johnson Space Center

Barbara A. Janoiko NASA Johnson Space Center Kara H. Beaton The Aerospace Corporation

Shonn F. Everett Booz Allen Hamilton

Jason E. Poffenberger The Aerospace Corporation

Taylor Phillips-Hungerford The Aerospace Corporation

Grier L. Wilt NASA Johnson Space Center

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Johnson Space Center Houston, Texas 77058

August 2023

Available from:

NASA STI Program Mail Stop 148 NASA Langley Research Center Hampton, VA 23681-2199 National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, VA 22161

This report is also available in electronic form at <u>http://www.sti.nasa.gov/</u> and <u>http://ntrs.nasa.</u>

CONTENTS

1.0	Introdu	uction	. 13				
2.0	SEATEST 6 Study design16						
2.1	2.1 SEATEST 6 Test Objectives						
2.2	SEA	ATEST 6 Test Facilities	. 16				
2.3	SEA	ATEST 6 Hardware	. 18				
2.	.3.1	Hardware Overview	. 18				
2.	.3.2	Conceptual Cargo Lander	. 19				
2.	.3.3	Conceptual Airlock	. 20				
2.	.3.4	Conceptual Logistics Port (Pressurized Rover Aft Deck)	. 20				
2.	.3.5	Conceptual Offloading Devices	. 21				
2.	.3.6	Conceptual Logistic Containers	. 22				
2.	.3.7	Portable Life Support System (PLSS) Mockup	. 24				
2.4	Test	Scenarios	. 26				
2.	.4.1	Study Design	. 26				
2.	.4.2	Derivation of Assumptions	. 27				
2.	.4.3	Test Assumptions	. 28				
2.	.4.4	Test Scenario Details	. 29				
2.5	Data	a Collection	. 31				
2.6	Test	Execution	. 34				
2.	.6.1	Test Team Training and Qualifications	. 34				
2.	2.6.2 Diving ConOps: Test Scenario Execution						
2.	.6.3	5.3 MCC/Crew Comm Protocol					
2.	.6.4	Minimum Success Criteria					
2.	.6.5	Additional Objectives to Meet Full Mission Success	. 36				
3.0	Result	S	. 36				
3.1	Res	ults Overview	. 36				
3.2	Obje	ective Data	. 38				
3.3	Sub	jective (Crew Consensus) Data	. 40				
3.	.3.1	Simulation Quality Results	. 41				
3.	.3.2	Capability Assessment Results	. 43				
3.	.3.3	Acceptability Results	. 44				
	Davit	Operations	. 46				
	Ziplin	ne Operations	. 49				
	Airloc	ck Transfer Operations	. 53				
3.	.3.4	Crew Debrief	. 56				
3.	.3.5	Crew Debrief on Container Relative Advantages	. 57				
3.4	Disc	cussion on Airlock Packing Limitations	. 57				
3.5	Exp	editionary Training Benefits	. 58				
3.6	Othe	er Activities	. 59				
4.0	Conclu	usions	. 59				
5.0	Refere	ences	. 60				
		Appendix A. Detailed Flight-Like Procedures	. 62				
		Appendix B. Acceptability Questionnaire	. 72				
		Appendix C. Simulation Quality Questionnaire	. 74				
		Appendix D. Capability Questionnaire	. 75				

Appendix E.	Debrief Questionnaire	76
Appendix F.	Crew Consensus Data	77

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Overall Team Schedule	16
Table 2. Pressurized Rover 14-Day Manifest ¹	26
Table 3. Objective Timing and Collisions Data Collection	31
Table 4. Lander Deck and Airlock Hatch Collision Data	40
Table 5. Example of The SEATEST 6 Timing Data	40
Table 6. Breakdown of Acceptability by Scenario	45

LIST OF FIGURES

<i>Figure 2.</i> The Boone Center (left) and the dock area (right) where SEATEST 6 took place 1	7
r gui e zu The Boone Center (lett) and the doen area (light) where Shi Tibbi o took placemin T	7
Figure 3. Dining facility (left) and meeting room setup (right)	8
Figure 4. The full SEATEST 6 test setup. The blue square is the dust containment area	9
Figure 5. A notional cargo lander (left) and CAD rendering of SEATEST 6 cargo lander mockup)
(right)	0
Figure 6. CAD renderings of SEATEST 6 airlock - mockup (left) and top down view inside A/L	,
(right)	0
Figure 7. CAD renderings of SEATEST 6 aft deck (left) and haul system (center & right) 2	1
Figure 8. CAD rendering of davit (left) and davit being used in SEATEST 6 (right)	1
Figure 9. CAD rendering of zipline (left) and test system (right)	2
Figure 10. Chart of logistic containers used for SEATEST 6.	2
Figure 11. The Apollo Lunar Surface Experiments Package (ALSEP) used in Apollo 12 to carry	
experiments (left) compared to the new dual carry 2.0 SPLC concept (right).	3
Figure 12. New SEATEST 6 MPLC mockup docked to aft deck logistics port mockup	4
<i>Figure 13.</i> Design drawings for SEATEST 6 PLSS mockup (Dimensions shown are in inches).	
2	5
<i>Figure 14.</i> SEATEST 6 PLSS mockup2	5
<i>Figure 15.</i> The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline	7
Figure 16. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC.	7
Figure 17. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC.	7
<i>Figure 18.</i> Habitable airlock mockup at JSC with 37.5 CTBE in soft bags; interior volume ~ 9.5	
m ³	8
Figure 19. Concept depicting use of davit to offload 1.0 SPLCs to the airlock/Pressurized Rover	ſ.
	0
Figure 20. Using a zipline to offload 1.0 SPLCs to the airlock in SEATEST 6	~
	0
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios	0 1
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32	0 1 2
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 3 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 3	0 1 2 3
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 3 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 3 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 3	0 1 2 3 3
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 3 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 3 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 3 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 3	0 1 2 3 3 7
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 32 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 32 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 32 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 32	0 1 2 3 3 7 7
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 32 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 33 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 33 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 34	0 1 2 3 7 7 3
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 3 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 3 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 3 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 3 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 3 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 3 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 3	0 1 2 3 3 7 7 8 9
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 33 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 33 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 33 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 34 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 34 Figure 29. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 34	0 1 2 3 3 7 7 8 9 9
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 32 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 33 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 33 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 33 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 29. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39	0 1 2 3 3 7 7 8 9 9 9
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 3 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 3 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 3 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 3 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 3 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 3 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 3 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 3 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 4	0 1 2 3 3 7 7 8 9 9 9 1
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 33 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 37 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 37 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 36 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 41 Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 41	0 1 2 3 3 7 7 8 9 9 9 1 2
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 32 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 37 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 37 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 36 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 41 Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 41 Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 2.0 containers. 41	01233778999122
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 32 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 37 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 37 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 36 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 29. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 41 Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 41 Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 2.0 containers. 41 Figure 34. Test setup used during the SEATEST 6 study. 41	012337789991223
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 33 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 33 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 37 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 37 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 33 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 44 Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 44 Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 2.0 containers. 44 Figure 34. Test setup used during the SEATEST 6 study. 44 Figure 35. Capability assessment of the tested logistic transfer methods. 44	0123377899912234
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 32 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 33 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 37 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 37 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 38 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 44 Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 44 Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 2.0 containers. 44 Figure 34. Test setup used during the SEATEST 6 study. 44 Figure 35. Capability assessment of the tested logistic transfer methods. 44 Figure 36. Crew working with the davit on the lander deck. 44	01233778999122344
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 3 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 3 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 3 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 3 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 3 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 3 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 3 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 3 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 4 Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 4 Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 2.0 containers. 4 Figure 34. Test setup used during the SEATEST 6 study. 4 Figure 35. Capability assessment of the tested logistic transfer methods. 4 Figure 36. Crew working with the davit on the lander deck. 4 Figure 37. Overall acceptability of the tested logistic transfer methods across scenarios. 4	012337789991223445
Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios. 3 Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale. 32 Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale. 32 Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale. 32 Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup. 37 Figure 26. Study scenario sequence. 37 Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline. 36 Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC. 39 Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data. 39 Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study. 4 Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers. 44 Figure 34. Test setup used during the SEATEST 6 study. 44 Figure 35. Capability assessment of the tested logistic transfer methods. 44 Figure 37. Overall acceptability of the tested logistic transfer methods across scenarios. 44 Figure 37. Overall acceptability of the tested logistic transfer methods across scenarios. 44 Figure 38. Crew using the davit transfer mode of operation. 44	0123377899912234455

Figure 40. Crewmember dusting another crewmember.	47
Figure 41. Crewmember using the ladder handle extension for an alternate descend path	48
Figure 42. Crewmember using the davit winch	48
Figure 43. Crew using the zipline transfer option.	49
Figure 44. Crewmember holding up the zipline to avoid a collision with the lander deck	50
Figure 45. A view of the 16-foot (4.89 meter) distance between the lander deck and the airloc	xk.
·	51
Figure 46. Control line management will be key.	51
<i>Figure 47.</i> Crewmember grabbing handle on container to bring into the airlock. Note: In a	
previous capture the crewmember hit the bottom on the airlock as seen by the displaced Kyde	ex
panel	52
<i>Figure 48.</i> Two crewmembers taking a 2.0 container through the airlock hatchway	53
Figure 49. Crewmember working around containers in airlock	53
Figure 50. Crewmember reconfiguring container for improved access to suit stand	54
Figure 51. Stack of 1.0 containers in airlock.	55
Figure 52. Stack of 2.0 containers two high by two wide.	55
Figure 53. If stacked 3 high, two rows of containers stacked 3 high vertically.	56

ACRONYMS

>	greater than
1/6-g	Lunar gravity
3-D	Three Dimensional
A/L	Airlock
ACD	Artemis Campaign Development
ALSEP	Apollo Lunar Surface Experiments Package
APFR	Articulating Portable Foot Restraint
ARGOS	Active Response Gravity Offload System
CG	center of gravity
cm	centimeters
CAD	Computer Aided Design
CapCom	Capsule Communicator (console position - communicates w/ crew)
CAVES	Cooperative Adventure for Valuing and Exercising human behavior and performance Skills
Comm	Communications
ConOps	Concept of Operations
COTS	commercial-off-the-shelf
CTB	Crew Transfer Bags
CTBE	Cargo Transfer Bag Equivalent
CWC	Contingency Water Container
D-RATS	Desert Research And Technology Studies
EAMD	NASA's Exploration Analogs and Mission Development
EHP	NASA's Extravehicular Activity (EVA) and Human Surface Mobility
	(HSM) Program
EV1	Extravehicular crewmember 1
EV2	Extravehicular crewmember 2
EVA	Extravehicular Activity
FOD	Flight Operations Directorate
FRP	Fiber-Reinforced Polymer
ft	feet
ft²	square foot
ft ³	cubic foot
g	gravity
HDL	Human-class Delivery Lander
hh:mm:ss	hours: minutes: seconds
HITL	Human-In-The-Loop
HUT	Hard Upper Torso
ISS	International Space Station
JSC	Johnson Space Center
kg	kilogram

ACRONYMS

km	kilometers
KSC	Kennedy Space Center
lbs.	pounds
LiOH	Lithium Hydroxide
m	meter
m²	meters squared
m ³	cubic meter
MET	Metabolic Equivalent
MPLC	Medium Pressurized Logistics Containers
MSL	Medium Sized Lander
N2	Nitrogen
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NOLS	National Outdoors Leadership School
NORS	Nitrogen/Oxygen Recharge System Tank
O2	Oxygen
Ops	Operations
PANGAEA	Planetary ANalogue Geological & Astrobiological Exercise for Astronauts
PAO	Public Affairs Office
PLSS	Portable Life Support System
PR	NASA's Pressurized Rover
PVC	Polyvinyl Chloride
SA	Artemis Logistics Strategic Architecture
SAC	Strategic and Analysis Cycle
SAO	NASA's Strategy and Architecture Office
SEATEST	Space Environment Analog for Training, Engineering, Science, and Technology
SCUBA	Self-Contained Underwater Breathing Apparatus
SH	Surface Habitat
SPLC	Small Pressurized Logistics Container
Stbd	Starboard
t	ton
TBD	To Be Determined
TIO	NASA's Technical Integration Office
USC	University of Southern California
VR	Virtual Reality

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

After more than 50 years since the last crewed lunar landing, plans for more missions to the moon are in development. For these missions, efficient and sustainable logistics will be critical. Additionally, innovative methods of cargo transfer to and from a lunar outpost should be considered for successfully establishing a permanent presence on the moon.

SEATEST (Space Environment Analog for Training, Engineering, Science, and Technology) is an immersive mission-analogous operational atmosphere where buoyancy effects and supplemental weights can simulate partial gravity conditions similar to those astronauts will experience on the moon. SEATEST 6 took place at the University of Southern California (USC) Wrigley Marine Science Center on Santa Catalina Island from July 18-30, 2023. The analog was used to collect preliminary logistics data on two different offloading conceptual methods (a davit and a zipline) during a simulated lunar mission.

Pre-test analysis indicated for a crew of two on a 14-day mission, approximately three Medium Pressurized Logistics Containers (MPLC) sized logistics containers (or a total of 37.5 single Cargo Transfer Bag Equivalents (CTBE)) would be needed to support a mission. A Computer-Aided Design (CAD) analysis was employed on the SEATEST airlock mockup to determine how many logistic containers would fit with two suited crewmembers, don/doff stands, and hatch operations. It was determined that for SEATEST, a total of 15 1.0 Small Pressurized Logistics Containers (SPLCs) and 8 2.0 SPLCs would adequately fit into the approximate 9.5 cubic meter airlock volume. This does not fully represent a complete 14-day logistic supply; however, it does provide a preliminary estimate to initiate design conversations between logistics teams and crew at this early stage of development.

Data were collected in eight logistics transfer scenarios over two days with four scenarios per day. Five test subject crew participated in scenarios as pairs. Scenarios included two sizes of logistics containers – 1.0 SPLC (equivalent to a single Cargo Transfer Bag (CTB) and 2.0 SPLC (equivalent to two CTBs). Planed evaluations included the use of a logistics port compared to transfer through an Airlock hatch, offloading methods based on either a davit or a zipline system, choreography of cargo in the airlock to permit ingress and suit doffing, and dust removal protocols for an understanding of the overall impact to transfer ops. Data collected included objective data (task times for conducting overall tasks and subtasks, full audio/video of test activities, and inadvertent "dings" on hardware) and subjective data (crew consensus of: task acceptability and capability assessment ratings related to best practices, considerations, and constraints for EVA-driven logistics transfer ConOps, sim quality of the test environment, and more general debrief comments).

The two logistic offloading transfer concepts (davit, zipline) presented both advantages and limitations. The davit's flexibility in allowing the crew to pick up the containers without physical interaction was well regarded by the crew. Some limitations of select davit hardware components were noted, but the overall concept was acceptable. The zipline system proved to be the most efficient way of moving logistics from the lander to the airlock and eliminated the need for dust operations. However, extended and repetitive lifting of containers to the line could be fatiguing. In conclusion, logistics transfer could hypothetically be achieved without an offloading method; however, the time requirement for such operations would be prohibitive. Results of crew subjective feedback proposed a combined or hybrid davit/zipline method to increase efficiency.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

After more than 50 years since the last crewed lunar landing, plans for more missions to the moon are in development. For these missions, efficient and sustainable logistics will be critical. Additionally, innovative methods of cargo transfer to and from a lunar outpost should be considered for successfully establishing a permanent presence on the moon.

SEATEST Test Series

SEATEST (Space Environment Analog for Training, Engineering, Science and Technology) was conceived to accomplish two primary goals. The first goal is to develop the capability to conduct Human-in-the-Loop testing that can benefit from undersea testing. It's designed to support rapid prototyping and assessment of Artemis ConOps and capabilities, be an integrated ConOps development testbed, provide a medium fidelity partial gravity environment, and enable dedicated crew and other relevant end-operators (e.g., CapCom, EVA Officer) input toward Artemis architecture questions.

The second goal of SEATEST is to provide an "Expeditionary Training" experience for the International Astronaut participants. Good Expeditionary Training looks like operations that require a highly functioning team, risk management, and good decision making. Other hallmarks include leadership/followership opportunities, extreme environment mission operations, real risks, demanding critical training, the need for good buddymanship, high individual and team performance, and "Detachment mentality," where the questions being answered are front and center for an extended period of time.

SAC 23 Logistics Task and SEATEST 6

The term "logistics" represents all supplies and equipment (including utilization) that must be delivered on logistics landers to support mission activities in surface elements. To obtain preliminary data on the feasibility of the proposed logistics transfer, an early exploratory study was conducted [1]. A scenario had two suited subjects carry multiple or single Cargo Transfer Bag Equivalents (CTBE) and load as possible in the hatchway before becoming too difficult for a crewmember to traverse inside. Lessons learned from this early study indicated that depressurized cabin logistics transfer will require significant effort from Extravehicular Activity (EVA) crew inside the habitable volume. However, more insight was required to fully understand operational constraints associated with logistics transfer.

SEATEST 6 tested three options for habitable element interfaces and pressurized logistics containers. First, an EVA Hatch (no dedicated interface) and small pressurized container (i.e., handheld "suitcases"). For this configuration, all logistics were brought into pressurized volume via EVA hatch – either directly into cabin or via airlock (rather than using a specific interface). The "small" size was driven by the need to maneuver carriers through hatch(es) into a pressurizable volume. The practical range to handle manually for these small containers was determined to be in the range of ~1 CTBE to 2 CTBE. Second, a dedicated logistics port and medium pressurized container (i.e., too large to be manipulated manually by the crew, but can be moved using mechanical or robotic off-loading systems). In this case, the logistics container mates with the habitable volume through a port with a hatch on the exterior shell – the container remains outside and provides additional storage volume. The "medium" size was driven by the need to maneuver the container to attach to a habitat and to travel with mobile elements. The practical range for this container is large ~5 CTBE to 25+ CTBE (with significant robotic or mechanical assistance). The final interface and container involved a berthing or docking port with a large, pressurized container (e.g., Cygnus-like module). Here, a logistics module docks/berths with surface elements and has a crew-sized hatch. Crew enters the logistics module through this hatch. SEATEST 6 studied only the first two options, which are EVA-intensive.

Primary Use of Data

SEATEST 6 was sponsored by the Strategic Archtecture Office (SAO) within the Exploration Systems Development Mission Directorate (ESDMD), which is responsible for defining and managing systems development for programs critical to NASA's Artemis program and planning for NASA's Moon to Mars exploration approach. Architecture Concept Reviews (ACR) are conducted annually by ESDMD, and during these ACRs, NASA architecture teams analyze the Moon to Mars Objectives and distill them into mission elements and how they function together to accomplish human missions to the Moon to Mars. To support the Nov. 2023 ACR, a series of Strategic Analysis Cycle (SAC) tasks are ongoing. Several of these tasks are informed by SEATEST 6 results, and will ultimately inform the Architecture Definition Document (ADD), ConOps for various cargo lander options (e.g., Human-class Delivery Lander (HDL) Large Cargo Lander ConOps, ESA Argonaut Lander ConOps, and Mid-sized Lander ConOps), and SAC 24 tasks.

Community Integration

SEATEST 6 significantly moved the community forward on EVA logistics concepts. A benefit of running a HITL field test is that it imposes arbitrary but inflexible milestones involving the crew office. Maintaining these milestone timelines for SEATEST 6 brought all stakeholders together to work toward a common solution. These stakeholders included Logistics Team, Cargo Lander Team, FOD EVA, Lunar Dust, EHP, and HITL testing teams. Designing SEATEST mockups required addressing previously unanswered touch points, such as identifying actual design decisions and techniques for notional concepts, full consideration of capabilities and limitations regarding both suits (balance, work envelope, reach, etc.) and humans (weight, size, center-of-gravity limitations). Additionally, standalone testing at JSC and CAD analysis was used to inform assumptions and designs. For instance, at the project's inception, 3.0 and 5.0 CTBE sizes for SPLCs were being considered as bounding cases by the Logistics Team. JSC testing showed that even a 3.0 CTBE is too large and bulky for two crewmembers to manipulate manually while suited. From this testing, 1.0 and 2.0 CTBE sizes were considered volume limitations moving forward. The test team determined assumptions for "reasonable" activities that would be followed throughout the test (see section 2.4). Finally, collecting focused crew input over multiple HITL test days provided valuable subjective data directly from relevant end-operators.

Test Participants and Test Support

Investigators recruited five highly trained astronauts/engineers for the study that had the prerequisite diving experience. As for other test support, the team consisted of six support divers for the astronauts, two communication personnel from the Kennedy Space Center (KSC) and approximately 9 test support personnel ranging from protocol, data collection and mockup support.

Team Leadership

Key leadership positions during testing and mission operations were:

<u>Mission Director</u> – The final decision maker regarding big picture objectives, priorities, safety, etc. during the testing.

<u>Diving Lead</u> – The person responsible for ensuring safe diving operations, including Dive Sup and support diver rotations, as well as ensuring dive plans and other USC-required products are submitted and accurate.

<u>MCC Lead</u> – The person responsible for ensuring MCC functionality, and oversight of the data collection, report writing, imagery and comm teams. They will also serve as the POC for any logistics questions related to USC facilities or livability support.

<u>Mission Management Team</u> – Will make mission priority and other decisions jointly when time permits. Consists of the Mission Director, Diving Lead, and MCC Lead.

<u>Dive Sup</u> – Responsible for oversight of diving operations. Will be dockside during all diving and will supervise donning, doffing, and record keeping of dive ops. Will man the comm box and have control of the dive from water entry until test subject fins are off and additional weight belts on, at which point control of the test will pass to the CapCom/Ground IV. At the end of the test, the Dive Sup will take control of the dive and comm again when fins are donned and weight belt doffed. The Dive Sup has authority to take control of the dive at any time during testing at his discretion.

<u>CapCom</u> – The CapCom/Ground IV will direct test activities from beginning to end. They will take the handoff of authority from the Dive Sup and pass it back at the end of the test. They will also take note of any time lost due to technical issues, for use in troubleshooting decision making.

Schedule

There are two timelines in which the test team followed regarding the study. Table 1 illustrates the overarching schedule including arrival, training, and test daysFour runs were scheduled each test day, with a target time of 60 minutes per test. The MCC team kept a close eye on crew air pressures, and provided recommendations to the Dive Sup when phases of a task could be truncated to stay within the target time/tank pressure. Support divers generally started the day with some mockup configuration tasks, and often had reconfiguration tasks after each run as well. As soon one run ended, participants would swap to their new roles and the next run would begin. Following the last run of the day, the crew and protocol team participated in crew debriefs, ratings, and consensus discussions.

 Table 1. Overall Team Schedule

Test Dates	17-Jul Monday	18-Jul Tuesday	19-Jul Wednesday	20-Jul Thursday	21-Jul Friday	22-Jul Saturday	23-Jul Sunday	24-Jul Monday	25-Jul Tuesday	26-Jul Wednesday	27-Jul Thursday	28-Jul Friday	29-Jul Saturday	30-Jul Sunday	31-Jul Monday	1-Aug Tuesday
Dive Team	Flight to CA	Miss C. AM Assembly, Dive Re-qual	Mockup Deploy, Diver re-qual	Mockup Deploy	Mockup Deploy	Mockup Deploy	Dry Runs	Emer Trng & Dry Runs				Teardown	Teardown	Teardown	Packing Miss C. PM	Fly Home
Crew				Flight to CA	Miss C. AM Gear c/o, orientation, Basic Trng	Basic Training, FFMs	Basic Training, FFMs	Emer Trng & Dry Runs	Scenarios	Scenarios	Debief	Fly Home Miss C. PM				
MCC & Comm				Flight to CA	Miss C. AM Setup	Setup	Dry Runs	Dry Runs	1-4	5-8	Deoner	Teardown/ Reporting	Teardown/ Reporting Ferry CE PM	Fly Home		
Data/Protocol				Flight to CA	Miss C. AM Setup	Setup	Dry Runs	Dry Runs				Teardown/ Reporting	Teardown/ Reporting	Teardown/ Reporting Ferry CE PM	Fly Home	
H/W Suppt. Team	Flight to CA	Miss C. AM Mockup Assy	Mockup Assy	Mockup Assy	Mockup Assy	Mockup Assy	Mockup Assy	Mockup Support	Mockup Support Miss C. PM	Fly Home						
Visitors/Observers									July 25th Visitor Op.	July 26th Visitor Op.						

2.0 SEATEST 6 STUDY DESIGN

2.1 SEATEST 6 Test Objectives

The overall goal of the SEATEST 6 field test was to conduct a Human-in-the-Loop (HITL) trade study on a subset the above SAC objectives involving major, EVA-intensive concepts related to logistics transfer from a notional cargo lander to a surface element (SAC Task 23.12.6). This SAC task seeks to assess the feasibility of EVA crew transfer of logistics; capture best practices, considerations, and constraints that inform ConOps for logistics transfer; and capture dedicated feedback from relevant end-operators.

- 1) Assess feasibility of EVA crew transfer of logistics
- 2) Capture best practices, considerations and constraints that inform ConOps for logistics transfer
- 3) Capture dedicated feedback from relevant end-operators

SEATEST 6 objectives were as follows:

- 1) To assess options for end-to-end medium pressurized logistics containers (MPLC) and small crew-portable containers (SPLC) into a pressurized vehicle via a transfer port and/or a side hatch
- 2) To assess two different offloading techniques including a davit arm and zipline system to offload logistic containers to the ground from the cargo lander deck
- 3) To assess conceptual dust mitigation ConOps including using tools to brush off dust, adding guards to protect seals, note abrasions and potential damage to hatch seals and the time required for dust mitigation

2.2 SEATEST 6 Test Facilities

The Philip K. Wrigley Marine Science Center (WMSC) (Figure 1) is a research/educational facility located on Santa Catalina Island, CA at Big Fisherman's Cove (Figure 2) and serves as a science

outpost for the University of Sourthern California. WMSC "enables researchers to investigate the intersection of people and the planet by exploring both the island's natural coastal systems and the impact of human activity in nature" [2]. Center facilities include marine research laboratories, housing, dining, and meeting areas (Figure 3).



Figure 1. Wrigley Marine Science Center.



Figure 2.. The Boone Center (left) and the dock area (right) where SEATEST 6 took place



Figure 3. Dining facility (left) and meeting room setup (right).

2.3 SEATEST 6 Hardware

2.3.1 Hardware Overview

The SEATEST 6 assembly mockups included consisted of a cargo lander with raised deck, airlock, and logistics port (which was assumed to be part of a pressurized rover). A main deck provided a way to positively secure mockups and reduce silting. The main deck sat at 9.1 m below the surface and was adjustable via jack stands up to 61 cm to accommodate leveling on an uneven sea floor. The main deck was constructed of 15 cm FRP I-Beams with a 4 cm fiber grate floor. Dimensions of the main deck were 6.1 m by 9.7 m by 1.6 m, with a weight of 2267.9 kgf dry weight and 453.5 kgf in water.

Assumptions regarding hardware design were provided by the following groups:

- Logistics carrier: SAO Logistics Team + Campaign Analysis Team
- Cargo lander: SAO Cargo Lander Team
- Airlock: SAO Surface Habitat Team
- Logistics port: SAO Surface Robotics & Mobility Team
- Offloading concepts: SAO Lunar Architecture Team (LAT), in coordination with Cargo Lander and Robotics/Mobility Teams

•

An important note regarding the mockups: all mockups were notional and do not reflect the architecture of the current lunar pressurized rover or cargo lander.

For assembly, first the base platform was be installed and leveled, then the cargo lander was installed with davit and zipline pole, followed by the rover aft deck and airlock. *Figure 4*. The full SEATEST 6 test setup. The blue square is the dust containment area. Figure 4 shows the final layout for testing.



Figure 4. The full SEATEST 6 test setup. The blue square is the dust containment area.

2.3.2 Conceptual Cargo Lander

The mockup lander deck constructed for SEATEST 6 (Figure 5) was built to dimensions of 366 cm (length) by 244 cm (width) for a total workable area of 8.9 m². The approximate weight of the mockup lander was 907.2 kgf dry weight and 362.9 kgf underwater. It was made of a composition of Fiber-Reinforced Polymer (FRP) 15 cm and 10 cm beams and polystyrene embedded to reduce weight with stainless steel brackets and a fiber grate flooring. The mockup also included a 2.5 to 3 m commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS) ladder for access on and off the deck.



Figure 5. A notional cargo lander (left) and CAD rendering of SEATEST 6 cargo lander mockup (right).

2.3.3 Conceptual Airlock

The conceptual airlock dimensions were 383 cm (length) by 202 cm (width) with a 152 cm by 102 cm hatch that has the ability to be adjustable to test smaller hatch opening in the future (Figure 6). The workable volume of the airlock was 9.5 m³. The mockup weighed 907.2 kgf dry weight and 362.9 kgf in the water. The air lock mockup was constructed of 15 cm and 10 cm FRP I-Beams with 0.3 cm Kydex panels and 0.5 cm stainless steel brackets.



Figure 6. CAD renderings of SEATEST 6 airlock - mockup (left) and top down view inside A/L (right).

2.3.4 Conceptual Logistics Port (Pressurized Rover Aft Deck)

For the MPLC, a rover aft deck with transfer ports was required. The mockup rover aft deck was 192 cm (width) by 376 cm (height) by 203 cm (depth) and weighed approximately 11,340 kgf dry weight and 498.9 kgf in water (Figure 7). The rover aft deck was built out of 10 cm FRP I-Beams with polystyrene embedded for weight reduction. Additional components included 2.5 cm rails for transferring the MPLC to the logistics port, a haul system for transferring the MPLC load from the davit to the rails, 4 cm fiber grate flooring and 0.3 cm Kydex panels. The mockup floor was 46 cm high off the sea deck grate.



Figure 7. CAD renderings of SEATEST 6 aft deck (left) and haul system (center & right).

2.3.5 Conceptual Offloading Devices

Thern Winches and Cranes Commander 500 series davit was used for SEATEST 6 (Figure 8). The arm was made of stainless steel with a steel spur gear hand winch on a pedestal stand. The davit arm fully extended to 154 cm and was placed at a height from the cargo lander deck of 247 cm. The davit had the ability to lift below deck to a distance of 8.2 to 9.7 m. The cable was a 6 mm diameter galvanized aircraft cable with a total length of 13.7 m. Additional components of the davit arm assembly included a swivel hook, swaged ball fitting, and quick disconnect anchor. The davit had a load rating of up to 300 kg and could rotate 360°.



Figure 8. CAD rendering of davit (left) and davit being used in SEATEST 6 (right).

The zipline system used a 2.4 m lander base post. At a 2 meter height on the post, a 1 cm diameter static climbing rope connected to the base post using an eyehook. A boat cleat at 1.8 m position on the base post was present to secure the control line. The zipline rope was approximately 6.6m in length with 0.6 cm control line rope. The control line was attached in a Camnal pulley along with a quick draw assembly consisting of two carabineers (Figure 9).



Figure 9. CAD rendering of zipline (left) and test system (right).

2.3.6 **Conceptual Logistic Containers**

Three different sized conceptual logistic containers were employed for the test: MPLC (Figure 10), the 1.0 CTBE SPLC (referred to as "1.0 SPLC") and the 2.0 CTBE SPLC (referred to as the "2.0 SPLC").

1.0 SPLC

- 2.0 SPLC
- 1.0 Small Pressurized Logistics Container (SPLC)
- 1.0 CTBE
- Crew handling aids:
 - 1 hard handrail on top
 - 3 soft goods straps along
- length
- Mass: 38 kg

- 2.0 Small Pressurized Logistics Container (SPLC)
- 2.0 CTBE
- Crew handling aids:
 - 2 soft goods straps along top and bottom circumference - 2 crew carry requirement
- Mass: 75 kg

MPLC

- Medium Pressurized Logistics Container (MPLC)
- 14-16 CTBE
- Docks to Transfer port •
- Requires use of offloading system .
 - Crew handling aids:
 - 2 handrails
 - Lifting hoop
 - Mass: 435 kg



Figure 10. Chart of logistic containers used for SEATEST 6.

The total number of containers included in SEATEST was determined by estimating the number of containers of each type that could fit in the airlock while still leaving room for two suited crewmembers to ingress, close the hatch behind them, and doff their suits. Additional

consideration was given to handling difficulties of each size container; e.g., a ground-rule dictated the 2.0 SPLC as too heavy/awkward for a single suited crewmember to lift/carry (Figure 11).

The SPLCs were constructed of Kydex paneling with Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) pipe handle (1.0) or soft goods handle (2.0). The dimensions of the 1.0 SPLC were 58 cm (height) by 37 cm (diameter), with a pressurized volume of 0.05 m^2 (1 CTBE). The 1.0 SPLC used a lunar equivalent reference weight of 6.5 kgf, so it was weighted underwater to approximately 6.5 kgf.

The dimensions of the 2.0 SPLC were 46 cm (height) by 56 cm (diameter), with a pressurized volume of 0.1 m³ (2 CTBE). The 2.0 SPLC used a lunar equivalent reference weight of 12.5 kgf, so it was weighted underwater to approximately 11 kgf.



Figure 11. The Apollo Lunar Surface Experiments Package (ALSEP) used in Apollo 12 to carry experiments (left) compared to the new dual carry 2.0 SPLC concept (right).

The MPLC size was driven by the need for an astronaut to be able to maneuver the carrier to attach to a habitat or mobile element(s). The capacity of the MPLC is 14-16 CTBE inside a 1.3 m³ volume. Dimensions of the MPLC were 160 cm (height) by 80 cm (width) with transfer port attachment. The unit weighed 81.6 kgf dry weight and 72.6 kgf in water. The body was constructed of 6061 aluminum with acrylic end domes. The MPLC cradle was also built out of 6061 aluminum and aluminum extrusion. The transfer port hatch was intended to enable medium logistics carriers (housing 19 CTBE or more) to be attached to the cabin, enabling logistics transfer across the hatch (Figure 12).



Figure 12. New SEATEST 6 MPLC mockup docked to aft deck logistics port mockup.

2.3.7 Portable Life Support System (PLSS) Mockup

While working underwater, the crew donned a PLSS mockup over their air tanks. This was used to simulate the volume a spacesuit PLSS would occupy when working in tight areas, such as an airlock. The PLSS mockup dimensions were 79 cm (length) by 60 cm (width) by 20 cm (depth) (Figure 13). From the center of the subject's head to the back of the PLSS was 41 cm. There were 2.5 cm polypropylene shoulder straps and a waist strap. The mockup was constructed of 2.5 cm PVC joints and Kydex pipes (Figure 14). Dry weight was 9.07 kgf and 3.17 kgf in water.



Figure 13. Design drawings for SEATEST 6 PLSS mockup (Dimensions shown are in inches).



Figure 14. SEATEST 6 PLSS mockup.

2.4 Test Scenarios

2.4.1 Study Design

The study was designed to understand the Extravehicular Activity (EVA) manual logistics transfer ConOps and time requirements using various conceptual offloading methods with bounding carrier sizes and accounting for dust removal and airlock size limitations. There were two offloading methods tested: 1) A davit and 2) a zipline both starting from the cargo lander deck. Additionally, three logistics carrier sizes will be examined: 1) the MPLC, 2) a small SPLC and 3) a large SPLC. Also investigated was choreography of SPLC placement in the airlock to leave room for necessary operations (e.g., ingress, hatch closure, and suit doffing). The number of carriers were determined using a manifest for a crew of two on a 14-day lunar surface mission (Table 2), as well as estimating the number of containers of each type could fit in the airlock while leaving room for those critical operations. Consideration was also given to handling difficulties of each size of container (e.g., a ground-rule dictated that the 2.0 SPLC was too heavy/cumbersome for a single suited crewmember to lift/carry). Dust removal protocols were included for an understanding of the overall impact to transfer operations. Crew were in pairs of two evaluating eight different logistic scenarios of approximately one-hour each.

Crew Size 2 Cre		2 Crew	2 Crew	2 Crew	4 Crew	4 Crew	4 Crew	4 Crew
Elements	PR	PR	PR	PR	PR & SH	PR & SH	PR & SH	PR & SH
Duration in Surface Elements	7 Days	14 Days	21 Days	28 Days	7 Days	14 Days	21 Days	28 Days
Total Surface Duration	12 Days	19 Days	26 Days	33 Days	12 Days	19 Days	26 Days	33 Days
Food (kg)	42.64	79.40	116.16	152.92	84.18	156.60	229.02	301.44
Wipes and Gloves (kg)	2.80	5.60	8.40	11.20	5.60	11.20	16.80	22.40
Health Care Consumables (kg)	1.26	2.52	3.78	5.04	2.52	5.04	7.56	10.08
Trash Bags (kg)	0.42	0.84	1.26	1.68	0.84	1.68	2.52	3.36
Waste Collection (kg)	3.78	7.56	11.34	15.12	7.56	15.12	22.68	30.24
Operational Supplies (kg)	5.00	5.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	20.00	20.00
Recreation & Personal Stowage (kg)	10.00	10.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	20.00	40.00	40.00
Hygiene (kg)	7.45	8.61	8.61	9.19	14.90	17.22	17.22	18.38
Clothing (kg)	7.08	13.01	13.92	17.18	14.16	23.36	27.84	34.36
Towels (kg)	1.37	3.27	4.10	5.46	2.74	6.00	8.20	10.92
Replacement System Spares (kg)	76.00	76.00	76.00	76.00	152.00	152.00	152.00	152.00
LiOH Cannisters (kg)	0.00	0.00	0.00	31.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	31.50
EVA Consumables (kg)	84.30	101.66	119.02	136.37	162.18	187.83	213.48	241.77
EVA Spares (kg)	20.78	80.66	80.66	80.66	41.56	160.32	160.32	160.32
Utilization (kg)	50.00	50.00	50.00	50.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00
Bags, Foam, Packaging (kg)	16.19	31.13	36.52	41.92	31.96	60.59	70.55	79.68
10% Margin (kg)	32.91	47.53	55.98	66.42	65.02	92.70	108.82	125.65
TOTAL (kg)	345.79	491.66	579.23	688.74	683.26	959.07	1126.46	1302.42
Total Volume (CTBE)	19.50	37.50	44.00	50.50	38.50	73.00	85.00	96.00
NOTE ¹ : Manifest source from the NASA Explore Moon to Mars Logistics Requirements and Delivery Assessment GR&As presentation dated 30 March 2023								

	Table 2.	Pressurized	Rover	14-Day	Manifest ¹
--	----------	-------------	-------	--------	-----------------------

There is a sequence for offloading logistics that were followed for all the scenarios, excluding airlock ingress/egress choreography. Figure 15 illustrates the offloading process including definitions of each action for the davit and zipline. Figure 16 and Figure 17 illustrate this process

for the MPLC and Trash Reload, respectively. Subjects had their center of gravity (CG) weight out to 1/6-g. All logistics containers were also weight out to 1/6-g. For a more flight-like detailed description of the procedures see Appendix A.



Figure 17. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC.

2.4.2 Derivation of Assumptions

The current assumption for a 2-crew, 14-day Pressurized Rover mission is that it will require 37.5 CTBE of pressurized cargo with a cabin volume of approximately 9.5 m³. Pre-mission testing was conducted to inform the SEATEST assumptions that follow. The first area of focus was regarded how well a suited crewmember could handle SPLCs of different sizes. Testing for this focus area was done in 1-g in restrictive Excon suits, with 1.0, 2.0, and 3.0 CTBE container sizes. As a note, though soft CTBs were used in the pre-mission testing shown in Figure 18, these are considered a proxy for hard, pressurized SPLCs, which would both take more volume and could not be packed as efficiently as shown.



Figure 18. Habitable airlock mockup at JSC with 37.5 CTBE in soft bags; interior volume ~ 9.5 m³.

Previous Active Response Gravity Offload System (ARGOS) push/pull tests results were consulted to bound assumptions on dragging containers across the regolith or airlock floor while suited. An additional focus of the pre-mission testing involved determining the challenges of putting 37.5 CTBE in a volume of approximately 9.5 m³. The SEATEST 6 airlock mockup and 1-g mockup used in testing were ~9.5 m³. 37.5 CTBE occupies approximately half the usable volume, even without accounting for the two spacesuits (not shown) and crewmembers. Additionally, when the SPLCs are unpacked, the result is that twice the volume is occupied by a) the rigid SPLCs and b) the soft goods that were inside of the SPLCS.

2.4.3 Test Assumptions

For the SEATEST 6, there are 16 evaluation assumptions that must be recognized from both the stakeholders and the test team for implementing the study's objectives. Assumptions for the study include:

- 1) Pressurized Logistics containers carry food, clothing, spares, medical supplies, etc. and portable water in Contingency Water Containers (CWC) and does not include Nitrogen (N₂) or Oxygen (O₂).
- 2) The manifest for a 14-day PR mission was assumed, which requires 37.5 CTBE of pressurized logistics (See Table 2).
- 3) Container assumptions were:

	1 CTBE	2 CTBE	MPLC
Lunar wt., Full (kgf)	7	14	77
Lunar wt., Empty (kgf)	2	5	25
Number of Containers	38	19	3

- 4) MPLCs are not manageable without load support.
- 5) A single crewmember is required on the lander deck for all offloading methods with the other crewmember on the ground ready to "receive" the item.

- 6) Any unloading operation should require no more than a single climb onto the lander deck by each crewmember.
- 7) A single crewmember can lower the SPLC from the Zipline to the ground and unhook it.
- 8) 1.0 SPLC can be carried and handed off into the airlock (A/L) by one crewmember.
- 9) Both 1.0 and 2.0 SPLCs can be dragged *a few feet* to make room for unloading, but not any significant distance as a strategy. (We will not prescribe this distance, but will note what's required during testing).
- 10) The thermal cover on the outside of the containers is strong enough to withstand dragging along the ground.
- 11) Both 1.0 and 2.0 SPLCs can be dragged from the staging area outside the Airlock *across the seal protection* into the Airlock by a single crewmember.
- 12) 2.0 SPLCs require two crewmembers to carry.
- 13) All SPLCs require two crewmembers to load them into the Airlock if not dragging across seal protection.
- 14) All containers must be dusted prior to entering A/L, which can be accomplished by one person.
- 15) Each crewmember must be thoroughly brushed for dust by their buddy prior to entering the A/L.
- 16) Each crewmember will be inspected by their buddy as "clean" before entering A/L.

Scenarios were exercised by a two-person crewmember pair. All study crewmembers were fully briefed on all ground rules and assumptions intended for each scenario. However, the crewmembers were given autonomy to strategize and execute the activity in the most efficient manner they can find.

2.4.4 Test Scenario Details

Planned Test Scenarios:

Over the course of five days, ten scenarios were planned for data collection to map back to the SAC Task 23.12 and 23.12x requirements. Captured in the scenarios include offloading the MPLC with a conceptual davit and transfer it to the rover aft deck and mating the container to a conceptual transfer hatch. Two scenarios used the same davit to offload small and large SPLCs into a conceptual airlock (Figure 19). A davit reload task took empty SPLCs and returned them to the cargo lander deck. Additionally, using a zipline as a variation in offloading method, both small and large SPLCs were transferred into the airlock (Figure 20). Finally, the test team examined the airlock choreography where subjects were inside the airlock moving containers around to doff (ingress) or don (ingress) their suits. Figure 21 shows the scenarios and the test days that were planned. Appendix A provides a detailed description of procedures for each scenario.



Figure 19. Concept depicting use of davit to offload 1.0 SPLCs to the airlock/Pressurized Rover.



Figure 20. Using a zipline to offload 1.0 SPLCs to the airlock in SEATEST 6.

1. 1.0 CTBE SPLC Transfer to Staging Area using Davit
 2. 2.0 CTBE SPLC Transfer to Staging Area using Davit
 3. 2.0 CTBE SPLC Reload using Davit (raising from surface back to lander deck)
 4. 1.0 CTBE SPLC Transfer to Staging Area using Zipline
 5. 1.0 CTBE SPLC Transfer to Airlock using Zipline
 6. 2.0 CTBE SPLC Transfer to Airlock using Zipline
 7. Airlock Egress Choreography with 2.0 CTBE SPLCs
 8. Airlock Ingress Choreography with 1.0 CTBE SPLCs
 9. Airlock Ingress Choreography with 2.0 CTBE SPLCs
 10.MPLC

Figure 21. Protocol SEATEST 6 Scenarios.

2.5 Data Collection

The test ground support team had access to full communications with the crew. The crew were equipped with full-face masks that included a helmet camera and microphone (Neptune III) that streamed live video and audio back to the ground support team. A situational awareness video camera was positioned around the mockup areas being streamed back live to ground support. Therefore, both video and audio test data were captured for in-test and post-test monitoring/analysis. The test team also broadcasted a live feed to a secure TEAMS channel that was recorded as a data backup. Support drivers for each crew pair documented the events through underwater still and video photography.

Objective and subjective data were collected from Crewmembers playing the role of an Artemis crew during each scenario (objective) and after each test day (subjective). Objective data gathered included task timing and collisions/hang-up events recorded by two data collectors seated in MCC observing scenario runs in real time. MCC data collector 1 and 2 recorded objective data for EV1 and EV2, respectively. Timing data were in the form of marked events to record time durations of scenario subtasks. Events included time required for crew to climb up/down the cargo lander ladder, time on the lander deck, time moving the logistic containers off the lander deck and onto the ground, time moving the logistic containers to the staging area, time for dusting operations, time see Table 3 for list of subtasks and descriptions). An additional objective measure included a count and locations of all "hang-up" points and any inadvertent "dings" or collisions of the airlock hatch or lander deck.

Data Type	Objective Data	Data Description
Objective	Climb/Descending	Amount of time it takes a crewmember to climb/descend the cargo
Timing	Ladder	lander ladder
(hh:mm:ss)	Lander Deck	Amount of time the crewmember is physically on the lander deck from
		the point of first step onto the deck to the last step off the deck
	Offloading	Amount of time to offload all logistic containers
	Transport	Time moving the logistic containers from the feet of the cargo lander to
	_	the staging area at the Airlock

Table 3. Objective Timing and Collisions Data Collection

Data Type	Objective Data	Data Description				
	Staging	Amount of time it takes a crewmember(s) to stack the logistic				
		containers at the staging area				
	Dusting Ops	Amount of time it takes a crewmember(s) to dust off all logistic				
	containers and themselves					
	Loading in A/L	The amount of time in takes two crewmembers to stow all the logistic				
		containers into the Airlock, ingress the Airlock and close the Airlock				
		Hatch				
	Total Task Time	Amount of time for the entire end-to-end logistics operations from first				
		step up on the ladder to closing the Airlock hatch				
	AL Dance Clearing	Amount of time to reconfigure AL and logistics containers to clear EV1				
	EV 1 suit stand	suit stand for doffing				
	AL Dance Clearing	Amount of time to reconfigure AL and logistics containers to clear EV2				
	EV 2 suit stand	suit stand for doffing				
	AL Dance Total	Amount of time for entire reconfiguration of logistic containers to clear				
	Task Time	suit don/doff stands. Timing starts when crew starts reconfigure of				
		logistic containers to going to internal hatch				
Objective	Overall Offloading	Any areas within the overall offloading zone where the crew got hung				
"Hang-ups"	Zone Area	up and burned unnecessary time				
Objective	Airlock Hatch	Amount and location of any collisions on the Airlock hatch with logistic				
Collisions		containers, PLSSs, or human body parts				

 Table 3. Objective Timing and Collisions Data Collection

Subjective data were collected during consensus discussions among all crew at the end of each test day. Comments vocalized by crew in real-time during testing were recorded as field-notes when feasible to be used as "conversation starters" and "memory jogs" during consensus discussions.

Subjective data collection involved the use of three subjective feedback/rating scales. The Acceptability Scale was developed by NASA's Exploration Analogs and Mission Development (EAMD) project during analog field testing in 2008 [3] is based on a 10-point Likert scale (1-10) where the scale is divided into five distinct categories with two numerical ratings within each category to discriminate preferences (Figure 22). The scale was designed, in part, from the Cooper-Harper Quality Handling Scale to have a scale that could quantify how the acceptability of the logistic operations by the subject using a simple scale. Likert scale data can be considered as either interval or ordinal depending on the presentation of the rating scale to the subject [4]. The Acceptability rating scale is interval because only the rating category, e.g., totally acceptable, acceptable, etc. has a label and descriptor, each individual rating does not have a label. A reasonable interpretation of this scale by a subject is that the distance between the data points along the scale are equal [4]. This is reinforced by the constant width of the scale itself. Interval data can be analyzed with descriptive statistics. The individual acceptability ratings will be analyzed to provide minimum, maximum, and median acceptability using a 95% confidence interval for each timeline task. Additionally, there was a crew consensus rating for each of the tasks at the end of each mission day (Appendix B).

Totally Acceptable	Acceptable		Bord	erline	Unacceptable		Totally Unacceptable	
No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies	Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies		Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies		Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies		Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies	
1 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Figure 22. The EAMD Acceptability Rating Scale.

Simulation quality ratings (Figure 23) reflect the extent to which the simulation allows meaningful evaluation of the aspects of logistic operations being assessed in this study. Unplanned communications drop-outs, unresolved hardware failures, and low-fidelity mockups are examples of factors that could affect simulation quality ratings. Aspects of logistic operations that are not being assessed in this test will be intentionally excluded from consideration when providing ratings of simulation quality. See Appendix C for the simulation quality questionnaire.

Scale Rating	Criteria
1	Simulation quality (e.g. hardware, software, procedures, comm., environment) presented either zero problems or only
	minor ones that had no impact to the validity of test data.
2	Some simulation limitations or anomalies encountered, but minimal impact to the validity of test data.
3	Simulation limitations or anomalies made test data marginally adequate to provide meaningful evaluation of test objectives
	(please describe).
4	Significant simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of major test objectives (please describe).
5	Major simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of all test objectives (please describe).

Figure 23. The EAMD Simulation Quality rating scale.

Each HITL test crew provided consensus simulation quality ratings along with each acceptability rating because the same simulation may differ in quality depending on the types of operations being assessed or the perspectives from which it is being assessed (e.g., by different groups). When a simulation quality rating of 4 or 5 is given, the corresponding ratings by that group will not be used in objective testing because, by definition, significant simulation limitations or anomalies preclude meaningful evaluation of major test objectives. Due to the exploratory nature of this study, it is understood (and expected) that not all logistics operations elements provided throughout the scenarios of this test will provide a flight-like simulation and obtaining this metric will enable the study team to place other ratings in context.

A primary objective of this study is to identify which capabilities are required for transfer operations to support crew and which capabilities might enhance logistics but are not essential. It is also important to identify capabilities that provide marginal or no meaningful enhancement, and can therefore be excluded, resulting in cost savings without impact to mission success. Thus, a 10point Capability Assessment rating scale (Figure 24) has been devised to rate the extent to which candidate capabilities are expected to enable and enhance future exploration missions. This scale consists of 5 categories: essential/enabling, significantly enhancing, moderately enhancing, marginally enhancing, and little to no enhancement. Throughout testing, the test subjects will use capability assessment ratings to describe the level of mission enhancement provided by a given capability (Appendix D).

Essential/Enabling		Significantly Enhancing		Moderately Enhancing		Marginally Enhancing		Little or No Enhancement	
Impossible or highly inadvisable to perform mission without capability		Capabilities are likely to significantly enhance one or more aspects of the mission		Capabilities likely to moderately enhance one or more aspects of the mission or significantly enhance the mission on rare occasions		Capabilities are only marginally useful or useful only on very rate occasions		Capabilities are not useful under any reasonable foreseeable circumstances	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Figure 24. The Capability Assessment Scale.

2.6 Test Execution

2.6.1 Test Team Training and Qualifications

Test subject crew were qualified/certified in 1) Open Water SCUBA (Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus), 2) American Academy of Underwater Sciences (AAUS), and 3) full face mask. Topside divers were qualified/certified in 1-3, as well as 4) Aquarius Reef Base "Working Diver". Topside divers had previous NASA Extreme Environment Mission Operations (NEEMO) diving experience. Other training included familiarity ("fam") and mission briefings at JSC and deck fam with hardware at the test site. Participants also completed mission-specific dive training that included familiarization with Neptune III Full Face Mask, undersea familiarizations with the logistics mockups, end-to-end engineering dry runs, and mission-configuration out-of-air emergency drills.

2.6.2 Diving ConOps: Test Scenario Execution

There were five test subject crewmembers for SEATEST 6. To execute the test scenarios, crew were paired as a team of two for approximately one hour per scenario. Crew performed various cargo transfer scenarios as a two-person team. Crewmembers not currently conducting the scenarios underwater observed from MCC so that all crew could participate in consensus discussions. Five crewmembers rotated through EV1, EV2, and MCC observation roles and experienced each scenario type (davit, zipline, airlock). Four scenarios were tested per day, over the course of the test days.

The primary role of the support diver was to provide primary operations support. One support diver was buddied with one crewmember for each scenario. Additionally, these divers also provided configuration support (e.g., fin and PLSS don/doff, negative buoyancy weighting to achieve partial gravity simulation, in-test hardware troubleshooting), communication umbilical management, and photo documentation. Following the test scenario, support divers re-configured hardware in preparation for the next scenario test.

2.6.3 MCC/Crew Comm Protocol

To increase test fidelity, a communications protocol between MCC and the crew were defined prior to the test. The protocol included the following points:

- Crewmembers referred to as EV1/EV2.
- CapCom referred to as MCC.
- CapCom relayed procedure steps to crew and managed scenario timeline during run.
- Crew would speak "aloud" to provide rationale for their techniques and approaches.
- Thermal/Tank Pressure/Glove checks every ~10 mins (similar to ISS EVA Glove checks).

Additionally, when crew were interacting with suspended or unsecured loads, overcommunication was encouraged. Crew were instructed to be explicit with diver locations and enunciating who has "eyes-on" and who has control of the load. Crew also were instructed to verify the location of all divers (including the test support divers) prior to motion of the load.

2.6.4 Minimum Success Criteria

To help manage priorities and resources, the following minimum success criteria were defined pre-mission:

<u>Mockup deployment</u>: Deployment of the deck, lander, airlock, and all supplemental hardware (davit, zipline, 1.0 and 2.0 SPLCs, and MPLC).

<u>Communications ("Comm") Setup</u>: Verification of good internet connection and Wi-Fi connectivity both at MCC and at the dock where scenarios were to occur. Verification of the Diver Comm Box at the dock, including 2-way voice to all divers, diver helmet cameras, and situation awareness camera. Verification of the capability of recording all video and audio streams. Confirmation of an alternate method of communication between the dock and MCC in the event of primary communication equipment failure (achieved via radio).

<u>Training</u>: All support divers and test subject crew divers complete all elements of training to qualify to participate and support the mission. Crew familiarization training session (where there were no test objectives) to include full communication setup. Test subject crew to complete out-of-air emergency drills while in full mission configuration (fins off and wearing PLSS and additional weights).

<u>Dry Runs</u>: One full day of dry runs with the assembled mockups – exercise of zipline system in offloading direction; exercise of davit system in both offloading and loading directions; demonstration of: reconfiguration of zipline pole, davit, and container weights; end-to-end comm check with MCC; and a designated opportunity for the crew to see all assembled hardware.

Test Runs (in priority order):

- A. 1.0 SPLC transfer with davit
- B. 1.0 SPLC transfer with zipline to airlock
- C. 2.0 SPLC ingress airlock choreography
- D. 2.0 SPLC egress airlock choreography
- E. 2.0 SPLC transfer with davit

Mockup Retrieval: All pieces of the mockup must be retrieved from the sea floor and placed in local storage.

<u>Crew Data</u>: Capture of crew ratings from each run and consensus feedback for the entire mission.

<u>Mission Statuses</u>: Dissemination of mission status to DSB every other day of the mission, and status reports to mission management at three timepoints (after training/setup, mid-test week, and post mission).

<u>Mission Data Capture</u>: All video, audio, and still photo captured for this test and returned to Houston.

All minimum success criteria were completed except the 2.0 SPLC ingress airlock choreography. Note: test duration was not long enough to necessitate a mid-test week status report and was excluded.

2.6.5 Additional Objectives to Meet Full Mission Success

While the criteria listed in 2.6.4 define the minimum basis of mission success, additional criteria were defined to qualify full mission success. These additional objectives to meet full mission success are as follows:

Mockup Deployment: Deployment of the pressurized rover aft deck mockup.

<u>Communications ("Comm") Setup:</u> Verify connectivity between Diver Comm Box and MCC – these items include confirmation of MCC ability to view both diver helmet cameras and situation awareness camera, 2-way voice with divers 1 and 2, and diver 3 ability to hear MCC.

<u>Dry Runs</u>: A second day of dry runs with the assembled mockups for an additional opportunity to familiarize themselves with the mockups and transfer hardware.

Test Runs (in priority order):

- A. 1.0 SPLC transfer with zipline to staging area
- B. 1.0 SPLC ingress airlock choreography
- C. 2.0 SPLC transfer with zipline to airlock

Lowest Priority Test Runs:

- A. 2.0 SPLC reload with davit
- B. MPLC load/reload with davit

Flexible scenario ("dealer's choice") defined by the test team, in the event that an opportunistic scenario is deemed of higher value than pre-determined scenarios.

Of the above Full Mission Success criteria, all were accomplished with the exception of the ability for diver 3 to hear MCC, the MPLC load/reload with davit scenario, and the "dealer's choice" scenario.

3.0 **RESULTS**

3.1 Results Overview

The SEATEST test team accomplished evaluating four scenarios per day for two days (Figure 25). Of the ten scenarios proposed, eight were completed. Crew and logistics containers were weighted out to approximately 1/6g. Data collected consisted of timing data (in hh:mm:ss) and frequency of
collision data for the lander deck and the airlock hatch. All transfer methods were tested with both the 1.0 and 2.0 SPLCs. Figure 26 shows the tested scenarios and their actual field-tested sequence.



Figure 25. Underwater view of the SEATEST 6 lunar mockup.



Figure 26. Study scenario sequence.

The remaining 2 (with lowest priority) were not accomplished as the test was terminated early due to circumstances beyond the control of the team (3 key participants became ill). All objective and

subjective data outlined previously was collected on the accomplished scenarios. Insights from debriefs, discussions, and testing prior to the mission were also captured in these scenarios.

The tasks that were not accomplished were the MPLC task, and 2.0 SPLC airlock ingress choreography. The following section is a summary of the data collected and further analysis will be undertaken by the primary stakeholders.

3.2 Objective Data

The objective data collected was constructed around the logistic offload flow model which consisted of five different logistical phases: 1) Offload Phase – where the lander crewmember unstraps the cargo, attaches a hook (davit or zipline) to the logistic container and fully lowers the container down to an awaiting crewmember who is on the lunar surface: 2) Transport Phase where the surface crewmember makes first contact with the lower logistic container, unhooks the container from the hook (davit or zipline) and places the container either in a staging area or inside the airlock; 3) Dust Phase - if the container is placed in a staging area, one crewmember commences dust operations of each container at the staging area and passes the cleaned container to another crewmember in the airlock; however, this phase step can be omitted if the container is transported straight into the airlock; 4). Load Phase – working as a team, both crewmembers move the logistic containers from the staging area to the airlock interior and stack the containers, being careful to maintain an ingress path into the airlock while at the same time protecting the hatch seals; and 5) Airlock Cycle – this is the accumulated time it takes the crewmember(s) to stack or reconfigure the logistic containers to maintain a path to suit don/doff stands and both hatches and ingress the airlock. For these flows see Figure 27, Figure 28, and Figure 29. In the context of these phases, the test team collected granular timing data of events including ascending/descending the cargo lander ladder, the amount of time the crewmember is on the lander deck, the amount of time getting the logistic containers off the lander deck and onto the ground, time moving the logistic containers to the staging area/airlock, time it takes for dusting operations, and the time moving the logistic containers into the airlock (Figure 30). Additionally, the total end-to-end logistic operations time was recorded.



Figure 27. The logistic offloading flow for the davit and zipline.



Figure 28. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC.



Figure 29. The logistic offloading flow for the MPLC.



Figure 30. Protocol team in MCC collecting timing data.

As another objective measure, the team noted locations of all "hang-up" points and any inadvertent "dings" or collisions of the lander deck and airlock hatch (Table 4) with the objective of enabling primary stakeholders to analyze significant granular events of the task for future timeline development, while also having cumulative time data for the larger picture of the logistic flow

process. Table 5 is an example of the field timing data collected. The team constructed data tables for each scenario and pre-processed the field data for dissemination to stakeholders.

Saanaria	Scenario Number Scenario		Hang ups in		Airlo	ck Hatch	
Number			Offload Zone	Tom	Stbd	Port	Dattam
Nulliber		Deck	Area	төр	Side	Side	Dottom
01	1.0 Davit	0	0	0	0	0	0
02	1.0 Zipline Airlock	11	0	0	0	0	0
03	1.0 Zipline Staging Area	1	1	0	0	0	0
04	1.0 Airlock Transfer Ops	0	0	0	0	0	0
05	2.0 Zipline Airlock	3	0	0	0	0	0
06	2.0 Reverse Davit (Reload)	0	0	0	0	0	3
07	2.0 Davit	0	0	0	0	0	0
08	2.0 Airlock Transfer Ops	0	0	0	0	0	1
08	(Reverse)	0	0	0	0	0	1

Table 4. Lander Deck and Airlock Hatch Collision Data

Table 5. Example of The SEATEST 6 Timing Data

MISSION DAY	1							
SCENARIO:	1							
DESCRIPTION:	1.0 SPLC Transfer to Staging Area Us	ing Davit						
		I	V1					
	EVENT MARKERS	EVENT			i TIME FO	ORMAT: h:mm:	ss	
EVENT START	EVENT END		Clock Time Start	Clock Time Stop	Interval Start	Interval Stop	Δt	NOTES:
CAPCOM "Go"	End of last scenario task	Task Total	9:20:49	9:47:53	0:00:00	0:27:04	0:27:04	L
First foot on first step	Foot on deck	Climb Ladder	9:21:49	9:22:11	0:01:00	0:01:22	0:00:22	2
Foot on deck	Foot on ladder	Time on Lander Deck	9:22:07	9:39:18	0:01:18	0:18:29	0:17:11	L
								EV2 going to airlock with container (3
First contact with first contai	iner EV2 remove hook from last containe	r Offloading Containers (Cumulative)	9:22:27	9:38:41	0:01:38	0:17:52	0:16:14	containers total in AL)
								standing on the side of davit while cranking
First contact with container	EV2 remove hook from container	Offload Container 1	9:22:27	9:23:49	0:01:38	0:03:00	0:01:22	wench
EV2 remove hook from cont/	ainer EV1 contact with next container	Reset Davit	9:24:09	9:25:09	0:03:20	0:04:20	0:01:00	
6	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	8
r č	ŏ	8	ŏ	ŏ	õ	õ	õ	ŏ
First foot on ladder	Last foot off ladder	Descend Ladder	9:38:53	9:39:26	0:18:04	0:18:37	0:00:33	3
First step of walk towards A/	/L Reach A/L	Translate to Airlock	9:39:26	9:40:08	0:18:37	0:19:19	0:00:42	2
First swipe brush	Last swipe of brush	Dust Ops - EV2	9:40:16	9:42:48	0:19:27	0:21:59	0:02:32	wants a longer brush when dusting off EV2
First swipe brush	Last swipe of brush	Dust Ops - Containers	9:43:54	9:47:42	0:23:05	0:26:53	0:03:48	7 containters in staging area (EV1 dusting container only while EV2 loading in container. EV1 dusting sides, bottom, and top)
Lift of first container	Last container contact and crew over	r ha Staging in Airlock (handover to EV2)	9:44:16	9:47:44	0:23:27	0:26:55	0:03:28	offloaded 10 1.0 spics total
MISSION DAY	1							
SCENARIO:	1							
DESCRIPTION:	1.0 SPLC Transfer to Staging Area Using Davit							
		E	V2					
EV	ENTMARKERS	EVENI			TIME FOR	MAI: h:mm:s	5	
EVENI SIARI	EVENT END	Task Takel	Clock Time Start	Jock Time Stop	Interval Start In	terval Stop	11 NC	JIES
EV1 climb ladder	End of last scenario task	Task Total Wait for Transfer Start	9.20.49	9.47.53	0:00:00	0.02.59 0.0	2.04	
First contact with first container	Last contact with last container after transfer	Transfer Containers (Cumulative)	9.23.47	9:38:22	0:02:58	0.02.38 0.0	1:35 De	posit into A/I
			525.41	5.50.2E	0.02.50	0.17.55 0.1	4.55 0 6	post into /ve
First contact with container	Last contact with container after transfer	Transfer Container 1	9:23:48	9:24:45	0:02:59	0:03:56 0:0	0:57 De	eposit into A/L
F **	0	0	000	000	000	000	000	ê
First swipe of brush	Last swipe of brush	Dust Ops - EV1	9:39:42	9:41:40	0:18:53	0:20:51 0:0	1:58	
First swipe of brush	Last swipe of brush	Dust Ops - EV1 Brush EV2 Feet	9:44:01	9:44:11	0:23:12	0:23:22 0:0	0:10	
Ingress A/L	Last container down in A/L	Configure/Staging in Airlock (handover from EV	9:44:28	9:47:42	0:23:39	0:26:53 0:0	3:14	

Table Note: Example table of objective timing data collected for EV1 and EV2, representative for each scenario (grayed out boxes/break in table indicates similar data that is not shown). Similar tables were constructed for each scenario. Start/Stop event markers are included for each event. Clock Time Start/Stop indicate local task times (when available), Interval Start/Stop indicate event timing within the task timeline. Δt indicates the time duration of each subtask (hh:mm:ss). Notes were provided for added event context when appropriate.

3.3 Subjective (Crew Consensus) Data

Subjective data collected consisted of the 5-point simulation quality ratings and the 10-point capability assessment and acceptability ratings (see section 2.5 for rating scale descriptions). After each day of testing, the crew assembled for approximately two to three hours to rate and discuss

the scenarios for that day without any outside interference (Figure 31). Eliminating distractions and interference ensured the crew had the freedom to discuss and rate the events of the day in a way that was fair and unbiased without, pressures from stakeholders. During these consensus sessions, a senior member of the test team was with the crew as a mediator if questions or a technical issue arose. After each session, the data were saved and backed up on two different servers to protect from any lost. During this phase of the subjective data collection, crew were asked to score the simulation quality for the day and the acceptability of each task. Much like the objective data, granularity of these tasks was key to understanding the entire task as well as more subtle task components. On the last day of testing, the crew was asked additional questions regarding the mission as a whole. This consists of the 10-point capability assessment which covered the essentiality of using each tested transfer method for the success of the mission. This is also conducted with a senior test team member in a closed environment, much like the one described for the simulation quality and acceptability. Finally, the crew participated in a more open discussion with primary stakeholders with an open-ended question debrief which was provided to the crew in advance. In this hour-long session, the stakeholders were permitted to interact with the crew to gain further understanding of the tasks from the crew directly. Stakeholders were encouraged to couple their findings from the debrief with the data collected in the field for the most comprehensive understanding of each event.



Figure 31. A crew consensus session during the SEATEST 6 study.

3.3.1 Simulation Quality Results

As previously discussed, simulation quality ratings reflect the extent to which the simulation allows meaningful evaluation of the aspects of logistic operations being assessed in the study. Two

areas were considered – the environment as compared to expected lunar environment (e.g., 1/6g effects, mass management, offloading concept fidelity, etc.) and the environment's ability to provoke relevant operational considerations (e.g., dusting requirements, suit maneuverability, mechanisms, system fidelity, etc.) (Figure 32). It was stated during this part of the consensus session, that the simulation did provoke much thought about the relevant operational considerations. Regarding the 1.0 and 2.0 SPLC scenarios in the underwater environment when compared to expected lunar environment, a rating of 3 was given indicating the simulation limitations made the test data marginally adequate to provide meaningful evaluation of test objectives. The major concerns included the slack in the zipline required a substantial change in how the crew used this method to complete the scenario (Figure 33). Additionally, the zipline control line needed to be extended approximately 10 feet (3.05 meters). A rating of 3 was also given for the 2.0 containers, with the comment that using the davit for larger containers forced the lander crewmember to the edge of the lander deck. Further, while positioned on the edge of the lander deck, the water resistance provided an increased stability (i.e., "leaning" against the water) that would not be present in a lunar environment. As for the environment's ability to provoke relevant operational considerations, a score of 2 given for both transfer methods and container size indicated that there were some simulation limitations or anomalies encountered, but minimal impact to the validity of testing. Items of note were the limited simulation of the volume of the suit beyond the PLSS, limited fidelity of the airlock, lack of lunar simulation communications, and range of motion limitations were not simulated. All the simulation quality criteria were met for successful objective testing (Figure 34).

1.0 SIMULATION QUALITY								
Questionnaire Element	Simulation quality (e.g. hardware, software, procedures, comm., environment) presented either zero problems or only minor ones that had no impact to the validity of test data	Some simulation limitations or anomalies encountered, but minimal impact to the validity of test	Simulation limitations or anomalies made test data marginally adequate to provide meaningful evaluation of test objectives (please describe)	Significant simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of major test objectives (please describe)	Major simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of all test objectives (please describe)			
	1	2	3	4	5			
The environment as compared to expected lunar environment (1/6 g effects, mass management, offloading concept fidelity, etc.)								
The environment's ability to provoke relevant operational considerations (dusting requirements, suit maneuverability, mechanism and system fidelity, etc.)								

Figure 32. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 1.0 containers.

2.0 SIMULATION QUALITY								
Questionnaire Element	Simulation quality (e.g. hardware, software, procedures, comm., environment) presented either zero problems or only minor ones that had no impact to the validity of test data	Some simulation limitations or anomalies encountered, but minimal impact to the validity of test	Simulation limitations or anomalies made test data marginally adequate to provide meaningful evaluation of test objectives (please describe)	Significant simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of major test objectives (please describe)	Major simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of all test objectives (please describe)			
	1	2	3	4	5			
The environment as compared to expected lunar environment (1/6 g effects, mass management, offloading concept fidelity, etc.)								
The environment's ability to provoke relevant operational considerations (dusting requirements, suit maneuverability, mechanism and system fidelity, etc.)								

Figure 33. Simulation quality of the test environment for the 2.0 containers.



Figure 34. Test setup used during the SEATEST 6 study.

3.3.2 Capability Assessment Results

Capability Assessment enables the identification of capabilities required to support the crew for successful transfer operations how mission enhancing (or not) each method was for conducting the specific tasks under the simulated environment. A capability assessment rating of 2 was given for the davit, indicating this method was an essential and enabling capability to successful perform the logistic transfer operations for a given mission (Figure 35). Comments about the davit transfer capabilities included the need flexibility for loading/unloading of containers without having to physically lift the container at any time during the offloading process and therefore minimizing crew fatigue. With the lander deck at a significant height from the surface (2.5 m), a tool for logistics transfer, such as a davit, is needed to accomplish safe transfer (especially for larger items) (Figure 36). The zipline transfer method received a capability assessment rating of 3, indicating capabilities of this method are significantly enhancing aspects for a successful mission. This method allows for potential dust-free transfer (containers transported directly from the lander into the airlock do not touch the lunar surface, and therefore would not require dusting) and seems especially useful for smaller items, saving EVA and dust operations time. The crew noted that of the two methods, the zipline seemed to be the quickest and most efficient way to transfer cargo. However, it does require the crew to physically lift the container to attach to the zipline. Additionally, the current attachment points seemed restrictive. A major takeaway is that a logistic transfer could be achieved without an offloading method; however, the time requirement for such operations would be prohibitive. The crew suggested that the most efficient means for logistics transfers of small containers could include a hybrid method using both a davit and zipline. For example, for larger payloads, the crew could use the davit as it has a greater mechanical advantage and makes the process easier for the crew, while the zipline could be used for smaller payloads that could be sent directly into the pressurized surface element.

CAPABILITY ASSESSMENT										
	Essential/Enabling		Significantly Moderately Enhancing Enhancing		Marginally Enhancing		Little to No Enhancement			
Questionnaire Element	Impossibl inadvisable mission capa	e or highly to perform without bility	Capabilities are likely to significantly enhance one or more aspects of the mission		Capabilities likely to moderately enhance one or more aspect of the mission or significantly enhance the mission on rare occasions		Capabilities are only marginally useful or useful only on very rare occasions		Capabilities are not useful under any reasonable foreseeable circumstances	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The davit transfer concept										
The zipline transfer concept			i i				i		i	

Figure 35. Capability assessment of the tested logistic transfer methods.



Figure 36. Crew working with the davit on the lander deck.

With simulation quality and capabilities scores indicating a positive result, the next five sections will discuss a summary of the acceptability ratings for davit operations, zipline operations and airlock operations. More detailed analysis of the data will be conducted by individual stakeholders.

3.3.3 Acceptability Results

An acceptability rating describes how acceptable (or unacceptable) a task (i.e., hand cracking a davit winch, attaching a container to a zipline, or reconfiguring containers in an airlock, etc.) was under the given simulated environment. There were eight acceptability surveys in total: 1.0 and 2.0 davit operations (2), zipline operations (including staging area and airlock) (3), 2.0 davit reloading operations (1), airlock choreography for 1.0 and 2.0 logistic containers (2). Table 6

illustrated the breakdown of acceptability by scenario elements (Table 6). The overall acceptability of each scenario is as follows:

- Airlock Choreography for both the 1.0 and 2.0 containers was scored as *acceptable* with only *minor deficiencies* requiring desired *minor improvements*.
- 1.0 Zipline Operations for both Airlock and Staging Area was scored as borderline with *moderate deficiencies* with *improvements warranted*.
- 2.0 Davit, Reverse Davit (Reload), and Zipline Airlock was scored as *unacceptable* with *unacceptable deficiencies with improvements required*.

Figure 37 illustrates the overall acceptability of each scenario in the sequence they were tested.

Scenario Number	Scenario	Total Elements/Sc enario	Totally Acceptable	Borderline	Unacceptable
01	1.0 Davit	8	4	3	1
02	1.0 Zipline Airlock	8	2	6	0
03	1.0 Zipline Staging Area	8	3	5	0
04	1.0 Airlock Ingress Choreography	4	4	0	0
05	2.0 Zipline Airlock	8	1	4	3
06	2.0 Reverse Davit (Reload)	8	2	3	3
07	2.0 Davit	8	2	3	3
08	2.0 Airlock Egress Choreography	4	4	0	0

 Table 6. Breakdown of Acceptability by Scenario

Overall Acceptabilty of Scenarios										
	Totally A	cceptable	Accep	otable	Borde	erline	Unacce	eptable	Totally Un	acceptable
Questionnaire Element No Improvements Necessary and/or No deficiencies		Minor Improvements Desired and/or Minor deficiencies		Improvements Warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies		Improvements Required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies		Major Improvements Required and/or Totally Unacceptable deficiencies		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1.0 Davit										
1.0 Zipline Airlock										
1.0 Zipline Staging Area										
1.0 Airlock Ingress Choregraphy										
2.0 Davit									1	
2.0 Reverse Davit (Reload)										
2.0 Zipline Airlock									l I	
2.0 Airlock Egress Choregraphy										

Figure 37. Overall acceptability of the tested logistic transfer methods across scenarios.

Davit Operations

For davit operations, overall acceptability scores varied depending on 1.0 versus 2.0 SPLCs. The scores were mainly driven by the proximity of the crewmember to the lander deck edge and the dust mitigation issues (Figure 38). It was noted that for a real lander with a significant deck height above the surface (2.5 m) a safety mechanism or barrier was strongly recommended (Figure 39). Some options were a rail, tether, or strap guard around the perimeter as a visual or physical aid to orient the crew as to where the lander deck ends. Any safety mechanism developed should still allow for continued offloading operations while restricting the crew to a safe area on top of the lander. For dusting operations, during the test, crew used a "paintbrush technique" (Figure 40) (mobilizing the wrist in both flexion and extension). However, wrist mobility in the space suit is limited, so a similar flexion/extension motion will likely be infeasible. Additionally, a longer handle brush would be required as well as handrails on the outside of the airlock for stability of suited crew. To further minimize time spent dusting, stacking the containers proved effective (i.e., stacked containers do not touch the regolith and would therefore would require less dusting).



Figure 38. Crew using the davit transfer mode of operation.



Figure 39. Crew's foot near the edge of the lander deck during offloading operations.



Figure 40. Crewmember dusting another crewmember.

The extended ladder handles allowed the crew to successfully reach the lander deck with enough clearance to accommodate the PLSS. The crew also developed an alternate method of swinging around one handrail to get their feet on the first ladder rung for an easier descent strategy (Figure

41). However, having a ladder that was sloped approximately 5 to 15 degrees would better aid a suited crewmember in ascending/descending with the weight of the suit and PLSS. As tested, the ladder was in a 90-degree vertical plane to the lander deck.



Figure 41. Crewmember using the ladder handle extension for an alternate descend path.

Davit mechanisms, especially the winch, showed some significant issues with the current design (Figure 42). The metabolic demand to manually operate a winch for offloading/onloading was rated as unacceptable. With the current suit design, crew cited it would be very difficult to accomplish this operation as the existing shoulder mobility capabilities are not conducive to this type of rotational motion of the shoulder. Additionally, it is hypothesized that such action would significantly increase the usage of critical resources, namely time and oxygen, which was reflected in the increased air usage from the SCUBA tanks for crew that manually operated the davit. To address this concern, a well-developed motorized davit winch or foot pedal (similar to the International Space Station (ISS) Articulating Portable Foot Restraint (APFR)) for yaw motion was suggested as a solution to make davit operations acceptable to the crew. Additional options included a davit arm pitch capability (~ 0 to 45 degrees) for flexibility in adjusting the radius that the davit arm can access (e.g., increase pitch angle for containers closer to the lander base pole), a hook design to handle multiple containers, an addition of a clutch for efficient lowering, and a ratchet mechanism to prevent inadvertent movement in the opposite direction.



Figure 42. Crewmember using the davit winch.

Efficient stacking of logistics containers on the lander deck minimizes bending in the suit, resulting in more efficient offloading operations by reducing the time for dusting operations and crew fatigue. However, the weight of the 2.0 containers, did make the transfer phase of the process more challenging.

Zipline Operations

Overall acceptability for zipline operations ranged from *borderline* to *unacceptable*. With this method, loading and unloading was straightforward (Figure 43). However, there was some difficulty in the test maintaining line tautness; due to the height of the zipline on the lander base post, if the line were tightented then the container would collide with the tip of the airlock hatch. The resulting slackness that was necessary in the line lead to occasional impacts of the container on the edge of the lander deck. In order to mitigate the issue, the crew had to hold one hand above their head to tighten the line, which is not reasonable considering suit mobility (Figure 44).



Figure 43. Crew using the zipline transfer option.



Figure 44. Crewmember holding up the zipline to avoid a collision with the lander deck.

For the receiving end of the zipline near or in the airlock, the crew noted it would be beneficial to have method to raise and lower the airlock attach point to account for variable distances from lander platform to create correct angle for container to clear airlock hatch. The distance of the zipline between the airlock and the landerdeck tested (4.89 m) was considered by the crew to be the maximum range (Figure 45) because the zipline angle may become too shallow for containter movement down the line.



Figure 45. A view of the 16-foot (4.89 meter) distance between the lander deck and the airlock.

There must be a control line slack management system. Additionally, the length of the control line must be increased by a minimum of 3.05 meters for improved controllability (Figure 46). As with the davit hook, requiring a hook design for multiple logistic containers would be beneficial. Another beneficial feature would include a bungee or a retractable line system to bring the container to the zipline attach point so crew would not have to physically pick up the container and attach it to the zipline system.



Figure 46. Control line management will be key.

For container improvement, additional soft tether points/D-rings integrated on the soft goods handles near the top and center of the handle would make loading of the 2.0 container more balanced and thus minimize reorientation requirements once the SPLC reaches the lunar surface or lander deck. Regardless of where the receiving end of the zipline was located (inside or outside the airlock) the crewmember could grab the soft handle upon receiving the SPLC (Figure 47) thereby eliminating dusting operations altogether. Additionally, stacking the containers reduced dusting time. Other options for dust mitigation included tarps, a form of grating at the entrance to the airlock or a "foot brush" to wipe off feet and equipment.



Figure 47. Crewmember grabbing handle on container to bring into the airlock. Note: In a previous capture the crewmember hit the bottom on the airlock as seen by the displaced Kydex panel.

If an outside staging area were to be used, the crew noted a more detailed procedure is needed to include a dust order of the container such as top, sides, bottom.

Of note, the height and size of the 2.0 containers made it challenging for the the crew to maneuver between the confines of the hatch when in the hatchway (with a container(s)) while maintaining awareness of the suit volume around their legs (Figure 48).



Figure 48. Two crewmembers taking a 2.0 container through the airlock hatchway.

Airlock Transfer Operations

Airlock transfer operations were rated as *acceptable*, regardless of container size. Stacking strategies included stacking the containers in the center between the two suit don/doff stands. This stacking location appeared to be a crew preference with both 1.0 and 2.0 SPLCs. They noted there was enough space to walk and work around the containers while both crewmembers were in the airlock (Figure 49).



Figure 49. Crewmember working around containers in airlock.

When reconfiguring to access the opposite suit stand, it was observed that the crew moved approximately half of the containers to a opposite side airlock wall to further improve access to the suit don/doff stand (Figure 50). Crew stacked the containers to a height of three SPLCs with no issue.



Figure 50. Crewmember reconfiguring container for improved access to suit stand.

For the scenario involving all 15 1.0 SPLCs, the stacking consensus was one row vertical and two rows horizontal (Figure 51). The arrangement for the 8 2.0 SPLCs resembled a 4 by 2 matrix with four containers on the bottom and two on the top (Figure 52). If a stack three SPLCs in height was implemented, then involved two rows of three SPLCs stacked vertically (Figure 53). Additionally, for most crewmembers, a second row of containers was easy to accomplish as it was within the work envelop of the suit; shorter crewmembers had more difficulty stacking in a second row.



Figure 51. Stack of 1.0 containers in airlock.



Figure 52. Stack of 2.0 containers two high by two wide.



Figure 53. If stacked 3 high, two rows of containers stacked 3 high vertically.

Crew feedback regarding options for stacking included a "Lego type" capability to snap containers in place and stabilize the stack, a potential hand hold notch or retractable hand hold for easier stacking. Also, for stacking outside the airlock, containers could be stacked like logs in a holding device.

For all stacking, due to a small volumetric space, the crew indicated a need for the capability to secure the containers. To minimize hatch seal damage, the crew noted that a fulcrum over the airlock hatch protector would be desired to move large loads in and out of the airlock easily, especially if two crewmembers are required to lift the load (as is the was the case with the 2.0 SPLC). While a test-defined ground-rule indicate that the 2.0 SPLC required a two-crew carry, the test crew did feel that they could have moved a 2.0 container with ease using only one crewmember.

3.3.4 Crew Debrief

During the Crew Debrief, general thoughts about logistics were discussed. Regarding the current logistics manifest for a 14-day mission with a crew of 2, the crew indicated that the MPLC with a transfer port was much more preferred over the 1.0 and 2.0 containers - further discussion on this point can be found in section 3.3.5.

As for the simulation itself, including the ability to simulate the lunar surface environment and Artemis mission operations in a SEATEST analog, some major improvements would be required. First, space suit simulation could be improved by the addition of higher fidelity gloves (e.g., hocky gloves), higher fidelity boots (e.g., ski boots), and a mobility restraint with the ability to simulate the motion envelope of a space suit (i.e., a 3-D printed Hard Upper Torso (HUT) to simulate

shoulder range-of-motion). Second, the addition of a realistic safety system on the lander deck would be essential in the real lunar environment, so it should be included in the field test mockup. However, a limitation to this type of analog is the added stability provided by the water resistance, which gave the crew an unrealistic sense of safety while on the lander deck. Third, airlock mockup fidelity should be improved, such as including umbilicals and hatches to better simulate the constrained volume. Additionally, improving the weigh-out process to more accurately simulate lunar gravity would benefit the analog. Zipline position/height should be optimized to prevent lander deck contact, and ensure sufficient line tension and clearance through hatch (Appendix E and F).

3.3.5 Crew Debrief on Container Relative Advantages

Although the test was shortened and the MPLC scenario was not run, it was discussed at length as a logistics concept by the crew. A key observation was that in concept, the MPLC with transfer port is much preferred over both the 1.0 and 2.0 SPLC solutions. This preference was based in the hypothesis that EVA time required for each CTBE of pressurized cargo transferred would be much less than what was seen for the smaller containers. Additionally, space would be optimized with the MPLC design because each attached MPLC adds temporary new volume, rather than taking up precious cabin volume (as the case with the SPLCs, because the empty containers require storage space inside of the cabin after being unpacked). Dust mitigation would also be optimized with the MPLC design – rather than needing to dust each container (like in the case of the MPLCs), at most the MPLC would require logistics port seal dusting prior to berthing. Further crew feedback concluded that if the MPLC is not feasible, the size of the 2.0 SPLCs seem preferable to 1.0s to minimize the extra volume occupied by the containers. The major takeaway from this discussion is that it is recommended that the team plan a future test for MPLC unload and re-load scenarios.

3.4 Discussion on Airlock Packing Limitations

The Airlock mockup used for SEATEST 6 was ~ 9.5 m³, which is approximately equal to the volume of the PR and the mockup used in 1-g pre-mission testing at JSC. Due to suit restrictions and difficulty of handling SPLCs of different sizes either solo or with a buddy, estimations were also made on the number of SPLCs that could reasonably be stacked in the Airlock. The number of SPLCs of each type used at SEATEST 6 was determined by estimating the number of containers of each type that could fit in the airlock, still leaving room for 2 suited crewmembers to ingress, close the hatch behind them, and doff their suits.

Once the Airlock is functionally full of SPLCs, an Airlock cycle must occur to bring them into the cabin. SEATEST 6 did NOT have 38 1.0 SPLCs or 19 2.0 SPLCs included in the scenario protocol. Rather, the estimate based on pre-mission 1-g and CAD analysis was that concluded that 15 1.0 SPLCs and 8 2.0 SPLCs would be sufficient to fill the Airlock and require an airlock cycle. In the case of 15 1.0 SPLCs, it would require 3 airlock cycles (to get to 37.5 CTBE). In the case of 8 2.0 SPLCs, it would also require 3 airlock cycles. Our SEATEST 6 crewmembers were able to find stacking strategies and preserve space to ingress, doff suits, etc. with 15 and 10 SPLCs, respectively. Arguably, they could have strategized how to configure more efficiently to fit a few more containers into the airlock, but only a few more containers at most would be feasible without violating handling assumptions.

Another consideration is that an airlock cycle is functionally an EVA. All required airlock cycles could be attempted in the same day, but it becomes increasingly more difficult to find space to store all the SPLCs in the cabin. Additionally, SPLCs must be disposed of via EVA eventually – presumably full of trash. Therefore, a strategy to recharge as needed, and combine the recharge/trash emptying on the same EVA may be most efficient.

SEATEST 6 only investigated at a single airlock cycle for each container type; once timing was understood to get one airlock cycle, the full impact could be extrapolated.

The major takeaway from airlock packing limitations is that better understanding SPLC design, stackability, packing efficiency of containers, handling constraints while suited, etc. is important forward work

3.5 Expeditionary Training Benefits

The international astronauts involved unanimously thought SEATEST was a worthy addition to the Expeditionary Training they frequently receive (e.g., NOLS, CAVES, PANGAEA, Zero to Helo, D-RATS, etc.). Attributes that make it good Expeditionary Training included:

- Extreme environment mission operations with real risks demanding:
 - Critical and challenging training
 - Good buddymanship
 - High individual and team performance
- Leadership/followership opportunities
- Detailed procedures
- "Detachment mentality" where primary focus was directed to the questions being answered for an extended period of time
- Opportunity to learn from more experienced crew members

To emphasize the crew's positive feedback regarding the benefits of using SEATEST as expeditionary training, direct comments included:

"There's a reason organizations like the service branches and NASA conduct training detachments away from home. It enables the team to be fully immersed with the tasks at hand, while forging the necessary tight-knit bonds that are required of all teams facing immense challenges, such as what we aim to do with Artemis." – J. Kim

"I get now why it makes sense to do these evaluations here (instead of in Houston). We were immersed in this exercise and evaluation, allowing us to have timely and thorough discussions and consensus building on forward logistics plans. Here we are at 7:00 at night still talking this, whereas at home we would have scattered by now as folks went to get the kids to soccer practice..." – S. Williams

"By performing these activities on an expedition, we benefit much more than we would by completing the evaluations independently. We are able to put our expeditionary behavior skills into practice, which is crucial for mission success." – J. Sidey-Gibbons

3.6 Other Activities

NASA Public Affairs Office (PAO) included a media objective of collecting underwater 3D Virtual Reality (VR) video. This objective was accomplished; VR video was collected by Felix & Paul Studios (FPS). Setup to collect this video included the use of support divers to position cameras on the lander deck and "lunar surface" (main deck) prior to the runs of the day and remove them at the end of the day. The cameras were moved as required for optimal recording of the activities at hand throughout the dive day. The FPS team monitored camera footage in real time from the dock to ensure quality video capture. A PAO Officer was present to support crew interviews with FPS.

4.0 CONCLUSIONS

Key Takeaways – Specific to Logistics Transfer

The SEATEST 6 Simulation Quality was sufficient to support meaningful evaluation of all test objective. The two offloading transfer concepts tested presented both advantages and limitations. The davit's flexibility allowed crew to pick up containers without physical interaction, though limitation in the hardware components were identified that will likely be resolved via winch improvements. The zipline proved to be the most efficient method of moving logistics containers to the airlock due to its potential to significantly reduce the required EVA dust mitigation.

A hybrid method combining the davit and zipline systems was proposed to increase efficiency; the davit could be used for larger payloads since it has the mechanical advantage to reduce crew fatigue, and the zipline could be used for smaller/easier to handle payloads for direct transfer into the pressurized element.

Airlock Choreography will be a significant challenge and is highly dependent on airlock size and layout, as well as container size/dimensions/stackability/etc. How well this works will constrain how many EVAs are required to transfer an entire logistics manifest. The crew identified several container stacking strategies and container securing options for future consideration.

The MPLC scenario was not evaluated, but given the potential advantages to this concept, it should be evaluated in future HITL testing in both unload and re-load scenarios. In concept, the MPLC with transfer port would be preferred over the 1.0, 2.0 solutions since EVA time required for each CTBE of pressurized cargo transferred should be much less than was seen for the smaller containers. Additially, space is optimized with MPLC design because each attached MPLC adds temporary new volume, rather than taking up precious cabin volume. Finally, dust mitigation is optimized with MPLC design (at most requiring logistics port seal dusting prior to berthing).

If MPLCs are not feasible, the size of 2.0 SPLCs seem preferable to 1.0s to minimize extra volume taken up by the containers. EVA manual logistics transfer will be very challenging and time consuming. For the current manifest for a 14-day mission, it's clear that 2-3 EVAs will be required

to get all the supplies and corresponding trash into and out of the Pressurized Rover using Small Pressurized Logistics Containers.

Looking deeply at possible hardware and technique solutions uncovered many subsequent questions, for example:

- What size container is reasonable for a single EV to carry?
- What size container requires 2 EVs to carry?
- At what size is it too big for even 2 EVs to carry?
- Is dragging a container across the regolith feasible?
- How many containers can reasonably fit in an airlock (or PR) and still have room for 2 suited

crewmembers to ingress, pressurize, and assist each other in doffing suits?

Key Takeaways – General

Developing a SEATEST mission served as a forcing function to start an integration forum with all the primary stakeholders (Logistics, Cargo Lander, EVA, Dust, FOD) from multiple Artemis program offices. SEATEST 6 planning identified key stakeholders from each team for future work between teams and built a common framework and vocabulary for discussing the challenges associated with test objecitves. Further, the arbitrary but inflexible deadline ensured full team engagement and prioritization for a rapid test.

The SEATEST mission model proved that a small team with limited resources can rapidly plan, execute and document meaningful HITL test data (less than six months from first concept briefing to final report). Having Logistics and Lander team stakeholders present during testing to witness results and discussions firsthand was very valuable in confirming the relevance of test metrics and operations in real-time. The results documented in this report will immediately inform ongoing SAC 23 tasks, Architecture Definition Document (ADD), SAC24 tasks, and various ConOps Documents.

If EVA intensive methods of pressurized cargo transfer end up being used in the Artemis Program, considerable forward work is warranted in developing concepts further, and testing them with humans in the loop. SEATEST is an excellent way to rapidly assess Conops in a medium fidelity environment, with focused end-operator feedback

5.0 **REFERENCES**

[1] Akker, T., Litaker, C., & Howard, R. (2023). "HAL logistics transfer evaluation out brief," Internal NASA Surface Robotics and Mobility presentation, 17 May 2023.

[2] "Wrigley Marine Science Center: Wrigley Institute for Environmental Studies," USC Wrigley, https://dornsife-wrigley.usc.edu/research/wmsc/ (accessed Aug. 24, 2023).

[3] A. F. Abercromby, M. L. Gernhardt, and H. L. Litaker, "Desert Research and Technology Studies (DRATS) 2008 evaluation of Small Pressurized Rover and unpressurized rover prototype vehicles in a lunar analog environment," NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX NASA-TP-2010-216136, 2010.

[4] Tullis, T., & Albert, B. (2008). *Measuring the User Experience*. Boston: Morgan Kaufmann.

APPENDIX A. DETAILED FLIGHT-LIKE PROCEDURES

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2			
Scenario 2	TRANSFER 1.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK	TRANSFER 1.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK			
N 2	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves			
	 Climb ladder and translate to davit worksite Attach davit hook to hard handle of SPLC Crank davit handle to lift SPLC and rotate clear of 	1. Position to receive SPLCs at the base of Lander			
	 Inder deck On EV2 GO, lower SPLC to lunar surface 	2. When personnel are clear of SPLC lowering corridor, give EV1 GO to lower SPLC			
		 Give EV1 GO to stop lowering SPLC when at lunar surface 			
		 Remove davit hook from SPLC and transfer to Airlock staging area 			
	 On EV2 GO, raise davit hook and repeat SPLC transfer 	5. Give EV1 GO to raise davit hook			
	6. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	6. Repeat SPLC transfer			
1	Once SPLC transfer is complete:	7. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves			
U	 Stow hook on davit and safe davit Descend ladder and assist transferring SPLCs to Staging Area 				
	9. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves				
	At Airlock:	At Airlock:			
	10. Join EV2 and assist with dust ops of SPLCs	 Start dust operations on SPLCs in stowage area Dust EV1 			
	12. Dust EV2	10. Get dusted by EV1			
		11. Ingress airlock			
	 Transfer SPLCs through Airlock hatch to EV2 Repeat until all SPLCs are transferred Ingress Airlock and close simulated hatch 	 Receive and stack SPLCs, while maintaining work volume for EV1 ingress 			
	16. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	13. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves			

IV/SSRMS	EV1			EV2			
Scenario 3	TRANSFER 2.0 SPLC F	ROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK	TRA	NSFER 2.0 SPLC FROM L/	ANDER TO AIRLOCK		
	√Tank Pressure_	/ Thermal / Gloves		√Tank Pressure	/ Thermal / Gloves		
	 Climb ladder and t Attach davit hook t Crank davit handle 	ranslate to davit worksite o hard handle of SPLC to lift SPLC and rotate clear of	1.	Position to receive SPLCs	at the base of Lander		
	lander deck	SPI C to lunar surface	2.	When personnel are clear	of SPLC lowering corridor,		
			3.	Give EV1 GO to stop lowe surface	ering SPLC when at lunar		
			4.	Remove davit hook from S Lander staging area	SPLC and drag SPLC to		
	5. On EV2 GO, raise transfer	davit hook and repeat SPLC	5.	Give EV1 GO to raise day	vit hook		
12007100			6.	Repeat SPLC transfer			
	6. √Tank Pressure_	/ Thermal / Gloves	7.	√Tank Pressure	/ Thermal / Gloves		
	Once SPLC transfer is o 7. Stow hook on davi	complete: t and safe davit	8.	Transfer (2-crew carry) SF area to Airlock staging are	PLCs from Lander staging a		
JT I	 Descend ladder Transfer (2-crew carea to Airlock stage 	arry) SPLCs from Lander staging ging area					
	10. √Tank Pressure_	/ Thermal / Gloves	9.	√Tank Pressure	/ Thermal / Gloves		
	At Airlock:		At Ai	rlock:			
	11. Join EV2 and assis 12. Get dusted by EV2	at with dust ops of SPLCs	10. 11.	Start dust operations on S Dust EV1	PLCs in stowage area		
	13. Dust EV2		12. 13.	Get dusted by EV1 Install hatch seal protection	n		
			1 4 .	Ingress airlock			
	14. Push/pull SPLCs in	nto Airlock	15.	Push/pull SPLCs into airlo volume for EV1 ingress	ock while maintaining work		
	15. Ingress Airlock and	assist EV2 to stack SPLCs	16.	Drag SPLC out of hatchw	ay		
	16. Stack SPLCs with	EV2 assistance	17.	Stack SPLCs with EV1 as	sistance		
	17. Close simulated ha	atch					
	18. √Tank Pressure_	/ Thermal / Gloves	18.	VTank Pressure	/ Thermal / Gloves		

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2			
Scenario 4	TRANSFER 2.0 SPLC FROM AIRLOCK TO LANDER	TRANSFER 2.0 SPLC FROM AIRLOCK TO LANDER			
Reverse with process with 2.0 SPLC only					
	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves			
	1. Open Airlock hatch and install hatch seal cover	1. Jointly place first SPLC on floor of Airlock			
	2. Jointly place first SPLC on floor of Airlock, leaving	Push/pull SPLCs through hatch			
	room for egress	101 <u>201</u> 07			
	3. Egress Airlock				
	Push/pull SPLCs through hatch				
	Drag SPLC to staging area clear of hatchway; repeat	3. Repeat until all SPLCs are transferred out of airlock			
		Note: EV1 may need to ingress A/L multiple times to			
	Note: EV1 may need to ingress A/L multiple times to assist unstacking SPLCs to ground level	assist unstacking SPLCs to ground level			
		4. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves			
	6. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves				
		Once all SPLCs are in staging area:			
	Once all SPLCs are in staging area:	5. Transfer (2-crew carry) SPLCs from Airlock staging			
	 Transfer (2-crew carry) SPLCs from Airlock staging area to Lander staging area 	area to Lander staging area			
		6. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves			
	8. Vank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves				
		After all SPLCs are transferred to Lander staging area:			
	After all SPLCs are transferred to Lander staging area:	Give EV1 GO to lower davit hook			
	9. Climb ladder and translate to davit worksite	Attach davit hook to SPLC and give EV1 GO to raise			
	10. Release davit hook and rotate davit to lower position	SPLC			
	 On EV2 GO, lower davit hook to lunar surface and slack line 	 Drag next SPLC to offloading zone and repeat until all SPLCs are transferred 			
	12. Raise SPLC and rotate davit to stowage position				
	13. Lower SPLC to stowage position and slack line	10. VTank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves			
	14. Release davit hook and repeat				
	Once all SPLCs are transferred:				
	15. Stow davit hook and safe davit				
	16. Descend ladder				
	17. VTank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves				

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2				
Scenario 5	ZIPLINE 2.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO STAGING AREA	ZIPLINE 2.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO STAGING AREA				
Pulley Pulley Zopine Control Line	 √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves 1. Climb ladder and translate to zipline worksite 2. Raise SPLC and attach to zipline quick draw 3. While maintaining tension on load, release control line from cleat 	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves 1. Translate to Airlock staging area				
Quick Draw	 On EV2 GO, pay out slack to lower SPLC to Airlock On EV2 GO, haul on control line to reset quick draw back to loading position Secure control line to cleat 	 Give EV1 GO to lower SPLC Lower SPLC to ground and unhook once line is slack Give EV1 GO to reset zipline 				
	7. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	5. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves				
	8. Retrieve next SPLC and repeat steps 2-6	6. Repeat until SPLCs are transferred				
	When all SPLCs have been transferred:9. Descend ladder and translate to Airlock					
	At Airlock: 10. Join EV2 and assist with dust ops of SPLCs 11. Get dusted by EV2 12. Dust EV2	At Airlock: 7. Start dust operations on SPLCs in stowage area 8. Dust EV1 9. Get dusted by EV1 10. Install hatch seal protection 11. Ingress airlock				
	13. Push/pull SPLCs into Airlock	 Push/pull SPLCs into airlock while maintaining work volume for EV1 ingress 				
	 Ingress Airlock and assist EV2 to stack SPLCs Stack SPLCs with EV2 assistance Close simulated hatch √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves 	 Drag SPLC out of hatchway Stack SPLCs with EV1 assistance √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves 				

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2
Scenario 6	ZIPLINE 1.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO STAGING AREA	ZIPLINE 1.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO STAGING AREA
Zipline Post	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
Control Line	 Climb ladder and translate to zipline worksite Raise SPLC and attach to zipline quick draw While maintaining tension on load, release control line from cleat 	1. Translate to Airlock staging area
Cleat	4. On EV2 GO, pay out slack to lower SPLC to Airlock	 Give EV1 GO to lower SPLC Lower SPLC to ground and unhook once line is slack
Oulek Draw	 On EV2 GO, haul on control line to reset quick draw back to loading position Secure control line to cleat 	4. Give EV1 GO to reset zipline
	7. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	5. VTank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
Verter	8. Retrieve next SPLC and repeat steps 2-6	6. Repeat until SPLCs are transferred
	When all SPLCs have been transferred: 9. Descend ladder and translate to Airlock	
	At Airlock:	At Airlock:
	10. Join EV2 and assist with dust ops of SPLCs	7. Start dust operations on SPLCs in stowage area
	11. Get dusted by EV2	8. Dust EV1
	13. Transfer SPLCs through Airlock hatch to EV2	10. Ingress airlock
	 Repeat until all SPLCs are transferred Ingress Airlock and close simulated hatch 	11. Receive and stack SPLCs while maintaining work volume for EV1 ingress
	16. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	12. VTank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2
Scenario 7	ZIPLINE 1.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK	ZIPLINE 1.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK
Zipline Post	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
Control Line Control Line Quick Draw	 Translate to Airlock and perform dust operations on EV2 Translate to Lander Climb ladder and translate to zipline worksite Raise SPLC and attach to zipline quick draw While maintaining tension on load, release control line from cleat 	 Translate to Airlock and get dusted by EV1 Ingress Airlock Position to receive SPLCs
1.0 SPLC	6. On EV2 GO, pay out slack to lower SPLC to Airlock	 Give EV1 GO to lower SPLC Lower SPLC to floor of airlock and unhook once line is slack
	 On EV2 GO, haul on control line to reset quick draw back to loading position Secure control line to cleat 	 Give EV1 GO to reset zipline Stack SPLCs while maintaining work volume for EV1 ingress
	9. VTank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	8. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
	10. Retrieve next SPLC and repeat steps 2-6	9. Repeat until SPLCs are transferred
	When all SPLCs have been transferred: 11. Descend ladder and translate to Airlock	10. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
to be the second	At Airlock: 12. Perform self-dust operations 13. Ingress Airlock and close simulated hatch	
	14. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2
Scenario 8	ZIPLINE 2.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK	ZIPLINE 2.0 SPLC FROM LANDER TO AIRLOCK
Zipline Post	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
Control Line Cuick Draw	 Translate to Airlock and perform dust operations on EV2 Translate to Lander Climb ladder and translate to zipline worksite Raise SPLC and attach to zipline quick draw While maintaining tension on load, release control line from cleat 	 Translate to Airlock and get dusted by EV1 Ingress Airlock Position to receive SPLCs
1.0 SPLC	6. On EV2 GO, pay out slack to lower SPLC to Airlock	 Give EV1 GO to lower SPLC Lower SPLC to floor of airlock and unhook once line is slack
1	 On EV2 GO, haul on control line to reset quick draw back to loading position Secure control line to cleat 	 Give EV1 GO to reset zipline Drag and stack SPLCs while maintaining work volume for EV1 ingress
	9. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	8. VTank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves
	10. Retrieve next SPLC and repeat steps 2-6	9. Repeat until SPLCs are transferred
	When all SPLCs have been transferred: 11. Descend ladder and translate to Airlock	10. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
	At Airlock: 12. Perform self-dust operations 13. Ingress Airlock 14. Assist with SPLC stacking as required 15. Close simulated hatch	
	16. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2
Scenario 9	AIRLOCK CHOREOGRAPHY (INGRESS)	AIRLOCK CHOREOGRAPHY (INGRESS)
Hab	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves
	1. Ingress Airlock	1. Ingress Airlock
	2. Attach suit umbilical	2. Remove and stow hatch seal protection
		3. Close hatch
		4. Attach suit umbilical
	3. Start repress of Airlock	5. Reorganize SPLCs to center of airlock for EV1
Airlock	4. Reorganize SPLCs into center of airlock	access to donning stand
Hatch	5. VTank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	6. √Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
	6. Attach to donning stand	
	7. Doff suit	Assist EV1 in doffing suit
	8. Reorganize logistic carriers for EV2 access to	8. Reorganize SPLCs for EV2 access to donning stand
	donning stand	Attach to donning stand
	9. Assist EV2 in doffing suit	10. Doff suit
	10. Reorganize SPLCs to clear path to Hab hatch	11. Reorganize SPLCs to clear path to Hab
	11. VTank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	12. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves

IV/SSRMS	EV1	EV2
Scenario 10	AIRLOCK CHOREOGRAPHY (EGRESS)	AIRLOCK CHOREOGRAPHY IN REVERSE (EGRESS)
	√Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	√Tank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves
Hab	 Ingress Airlock (from Hab) Unstow hatch seal protection and temp stow 	1. Ingress Airlock (from Hab)
	3. Don suit	2. Close Hab hatch
	4. Attach umbilical	3. Assist EV1 in suit donning
	5. Egress donning stand	
	6. VTank Pressure/ Thermal / Gloves	4. VTank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves
	7. Reorganize SPLCs for EV2 access to donning stand	 Assist EV1 to reorganize SPLCs for EV2 access to donning stand
Hatch	8. Assist EV2 in suit donning	6. Don suit
	9. Reorganize SPLCs to clear path to Airlock hatch	7. Attach umbilical
		8. Egress donning stand
	Depress Airlock	Depress Airlock
	After depress complete:	After depress complete:
	10. Detach from umbilical	9. Retrieve hatch seal protection from temp stow
	11. Open Airlock hatch	location and install on Airlock hatch seal
	12. Egress Airlock	10. Egress Airlock
	13. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves	11. √Tank Pressure / Thermal / Gloves

APPENDIX B. ACCEPTABILITY QUESTIONNAIRE

 Table 1B. Crew Questions for Davit

Transfer Ops Using Davit		
Rate the overall acceptability of the following transfer operation elements:		
Q1	Using the Davit for transfer operations (reach, attachments, loading/unloading containers, davit handle, crank, hook, etc.)	
Q2	The lander deck for transfer operations (deck volume, lander height, etc.)	
Q3	The conceptual 1.0/2.0 SPLC container for use- with a davit (handrails, size, shape, connection points, etc.)	
Q4	Size of Staging area	
Q5	The number of crew for this transfer method	
Q6	The conceptual dust migration procedures	
Q7	The cargo packing (i.e., layout of SPLCs) on the lander deck for transfer operations	
Q8	Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including risk to crew) for 1.0 SPLCs	
Q9	Additional comments	

Table 2B. Crew Questions for Reverse Davit (Reload)

Tran	Transfer Ops Using A Davit for Reload	
Rate	the overall acceptability of the following transfer operation elements:	
01	Using the Davit for transfer operations (reach, attachments, loading/unloading containers, davit handle,	
Υ ¹	crank, hook, etc.)	
Q2	The lander deck for transfer operations (deck volume, lander height, etc.)	
Q3	The conceptual large SPLC container for use with a davit (handrails, size, shape, connection points, etc.,)	
Q4	Transfer of SPLCs from A/L to staging area (below davit)	
Q5	Size of Staging area (below the davit)	
Q6	The number of crew for this transfer method	
Q7	The cargo packing (i.e., layout of SPLCs) on the lander deck for transfer operations	
08	Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including risk to crew) for 2.0	
٧٥	SPLCs	
Q9	Additional comments	
Table 3B. Crew Questions for Zipline and Staging Area

Tran	sfer Ops Using A Zipline and Staging Area
Rate	the overall acceptability of the following transfer operation elements:
01	Using the zipline for transfer operation (reach, attachments, loading/unloading containers, quick draw,
Q1	control line, pulley, zipline post, etc.)
Q2	The lander deck for transfer operations (deck volume, lander height, etc.)
03	The conceptual small SPLC container for use with a zipline (handrails, size, shape, connection points,
Q3	etc.)
Q4	Size of Staging area
Q5	The number of crew for this transfer method
Q6	The conceptual dust migration procedures
Q7	The cargo packing (i.e., layout of SPLCs) on the lander deck for transfer operations
08	Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including risk to crew) for 1.0
Qo	SPLCs
Q9	Additional comments

Table 4B. Crew Questions for Zipline and Airlock

Tran	Transfer Ops Using A Zipline and Airlock									
Rate	Rate the overall acceptability of the following transfer operation elements:									
Q1	Using the zipline for transfer operation (reach, attachments, loading/unloading containers, quick draw, control line, pulley, zipline post, etc.)									
Q2	The lander deck for transfer operations (deck volume, lander height, etc.)									
03	The conceptual 1.0/2.0 SPLC container for use with a zipline (handrails, size, shape, connection points,									
X ³	etc.)									
Q4	The number of crew for this transfer method									
05	Transfer of 1.0/2.0 SPLCs through the Airlock hatch (hatch opening, Airlock volume, disconnecting									
Ç2	container, stacking containers, "dings" to hatch seals, etc.)									
Q6	The conceptual dust migration procedures									
Q7	The cargo packing (i.e., layout of SPLCs) on the lander deck for transfer operations									
00	Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including risk to crew) for 1.0									
Q٥	SPLCs									
Q19	Additional comments									

Table 5B. Crew Questions for Airlock Ops

Airlo	Airlock Choreography									
Rate the overall acceptability of the following transfer operation elements:										
Q1	Stacking the containers									
Q2	Airlock container reconfiguration within the given airlock volume									
Q3	Suit don/doff in the given airlock volume									
Q4	Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including risk to crew)									
Q5	Additional comments									

APPENDIX C. SIMULATION QUALITY QUESTIONNAIRE

 Table 1C. Crew Simulation Quality Questions

Rate	the simulation quality of the following elements:
01	The environment as compared to expected lunar environment (1/6 g effects, mass management, of-
QI	floading concept fidelity, etc.)
02	The environment's ability to p[provoke relevant operational considerations (dusting requirements,
Q2	suit maneuverability, mechanism and system fidelity, etc.)
Q3	Additional comments are appreciated

APPENDIX D. CAPABILITY QUESTIONNAIRE

Table	e 1D. Crew Capability for Transfer Operations								
Capa	Capability Questionnaire for Transfer Operations								
Prov	ide a capability assessment rating and comments for the following transfer operation methods:								
Q1	The davit offloading concept								
Q2	The zipline offloading concept								
Q3	Additional comments are appreciated								

APPENDIX E. DEBRIEF QUESTIONNAIRE

Table 1E. Crew Debrief Questionnaire

	z = z + z + z = z + z + z + z + z + z +
Crew	7 Debrief Questionnaire
Q1	Any other general thoughts on cargo logistics lander configurations (e.g., how logistics are packaged on a lander for offloading) and capabilities (e.g., specs for ladders, davits, winches, etc.)? E.g., can you envision lander details that are extremely prohibitive vs. extremely mission enhancing, etc.?
Q2	Any other general thoughts on dust mitigation strategies for logistic transfer ops?
Q3	What are your thoughts on the current logistics manifest for a 14-day rover mission for a crew of 2 (i.e., all 15 of the 1.0 SPLCs + 8 of the 2.0 SPLCs)? How do you propose we think about logistics for ~7 to 30-day surface mission (e.g., in pressurized rover and/or surface habitat)? What are your recommendations for determining (e.g., through analysis, testing + eval, etc.) what quantity of logistics is appropriate for these missions?
Q4	What are your concerns and recommendations w.r.t. our ability to simulate the lunar surface environment and Artemis mission operations in these SEATEST analog tests?
Q5	Any other feedback (e.g., for logistic handling)

APPENDIX F. CREW CONSENSUS DATA

SEATEST 6 DAY 01

Crew Consensus 25 July 2023

Day 01 Simulation Quality



		SIMULATION QUALITY SCALE		
1	2	3	4	5
Simulation quality (e.g. hardware, software, procedures, comm., environment) presented either zero problems or only minor ones that had no impact to the validity of test data	Some simulation limitations or anomalies encountered, but minimal impact to the validity of test	Simulation limitations or anomalies made test data marginally adequate to provide meaningful evaluation of test objectives (please describe)	Significant simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of major test objectives (please describe)	Major simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of all test objectives (please describe)

.

Q1. The environment as compared to expected lunar environment (1/6g effects,
 mass management, offloading concept fidelity, etc.)

Rating = 3
Comments:

- The slack in the zipline required a substantial change to the method the crew member used to complete the scenario (one hand always tightening the slack on • the zipline, meaning the control line is operated with one hand only).
- Current management requires too much dexterity/tending (do we really want the . cleat?).
- Control line needs to be longer when the zip line is tethered at the forward side of the airlock (near the IV hatch) [approximately 10 feet more] Recommend developing a way to simulate slack management in the zipline
- control line.
- Q2. The environment's ability to provoke relevant operational considerations (dusting requirements, suit maneuverability, mechanism and system fidelity, etc.) Rating = 3 Comments:
 - Comm would be substantially different on a lunar mission (delay, call frequency, crew-to-crew calls).
 - . Limited simulation of the volume of the suit beyond the PLSS. Water resistance allowed crewmembers to complete tasks unrealistically (and added comfort to operations on the lunar lander platform).
 - Limited fidelity of the airlock allowed for SLPCs to stick out open gaps in the • mockup.
 - . Range of motion limitations are not well simulated, which would be especially limiting during dusting operations.

Scenario 01 – 1.0 DAVIT (Acceptability)

	Totally Acceptable No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies		Acceptable Minor improvements desired Impr and/or Minor deficiencies and/or		Borde Improvemen and/or Modera	Bordenine rovements warranted r Moderate deficiencies		Unacceptable Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies		Totally Unacceptable Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies		
	1	2	3	4	5		6	7	8	9	10	
 Q1. Using loading/ur Rating = 7 Comment . . . 	the Davit for the loading contains s: Davit crank og suit. Suggest Crew member, on the perpen Electric motor Although the I – Pitch ai – Change – Additio – Change – Additio – Consid operati	ransfer operati- iners, davit has beration required this as a manua adjusted the cr g so, back end creating a poter dicular side of ti for prime system ask did not requ- gjustments for th the hook desig n of clutch for ef mechanism to n. er pedal/foot op on.	ons (reach, atta ndle, crank, ho d too much moti l back up system rank length to all of the crank har ntial visor contar- he davit to the c m would be idea jire it, additional ne arm of the da in to enable muil flicient lowering. prevent inadver erated system to	achments, ok, etc.): on to be accept m (contingency low for reasonal adle extender tot risk, requiring rank itself. al. recommendatio vit to maximize tiple SPLCs. tent movement o allow for hand	able for the only). ble speed and wward the (them to stand ms include: flexibility. in opposite I free		Q2. The la Rating = 5 Comment Q3. The c connectio Rating = 4 Comment	Inder deck for 5 ts: - Height of place (rail - Consider - Consider - Inder to - Flush dav (including onceptual sme on points, etc.) - Soft handl orientation - Handles c required fi - If volumet better star - Conseider	transfer operat the lander is rea- ing, tether, etc.) placement of the planet of usal t mount would i fail and trip haz if SPLC contai is soluring loweri ould be collapsi or reorientation. to trade is not t king.	tions (deck vol isonable, but a a davit mount in bilty. ncrease safety ard) was not co ner for use wi able handling 1 oviding addition g. ble or all soft ge so prohibitive, a bich would allow	ume, lander he safety mechanis proximity to zip when davit is no naidered, rating th a davit (hand 1.0 SLPC and ut hal tether points bod handles if hi is change in shap	ight, etc.): m needs to be in line and edge of the t installed. If safety would be 3. iralis, size, shape, lized the handle to allowing for various ard handle is not le would allow for face with one

- Consider a mechanism which would allow SPLCs to interface with one another to facilitate stacking (base of SPLC fits the handle of the top of the SPLC so they fit together).
 Attachment point for davit could center on the CG.

Scenario 01 - 1.0 DAVIT (Acceptability) cont.

	Totally Acceptable Acceptable Border					erline	l	Unaccepta	able	Totally Un	acceptable
	No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies		Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies a		Improvemer and/or Moder	Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies		Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies		Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		8	9	10
Q4. Size Rating = Commen	of staging area: 3 ts:	hould be all	ed to asser	 Q6. Rati Cont 	The conce ng = 5 ments:	eptual di In the s	ust migratio uit, wrist mot	on procedures:	; so operations m		
	 Staging area sr could vary with Crew designate Stacking strates - In staging (pyramid SPLCs c restraints Stacked SPLCs a consideration 	nouid be siz n operation), ed staging a igles: ing area, stac d configuration could be sta s were built s require min h	in the staging a nimal dusting;	side of the A/L s three high an II. ides like a pile o area. however, crew 1	d SPLOS (num EV hatch. d two deep of logs if some : height needs to	side	•	direction There n and cre A long h footed s Without minimize	n (as oppose needs to be a w member m handle brush stability durin t a staging ar es dusting.	ed to a "paintbru a procedure for novements, n would be help ng dusting, rea, stacking SF	ush ^{ri} technique) dusting, includi ful, along with h PLCs is preferre
Q5. The n Rating = 3 Commen	umber of crew for t s: • Airlock volume • For the as test airlock/staging - By the t the crew	this transfe e is a limitatik ted distance area is suff time one cre w member o	r method: on to number of (16 feet) betwe licient for two ci swmember droj on the lander h	f crew. een the lander a rew. oped off an SLF ad loaded anoth	and the C at the airlock	- Q7. oper - Rati - Con	The cargo ations ng = 4 ments:	Stacking Stacking transfer Stacking mitigatic Stacking	g (i.e., layou g is helpful o g minimizes on. g also limits :	nt of SPLCs) or on the lander pla crew member to the need to tray	n the lander de atform and on t bending in the s vel on the lunar
	davit ar If the two are fu would improve	nd was prep further apart, the efficien	ared to lower i , an additional cy of the opera	t. crew member o tion.	n the lunar surf	ace		retrieve Ensurin potentia	SPLCs. Ig the SLPCs al for them to	s interface with tumble.	one another wo

NASA

NASA

Scenario 01 - 1.0 DAVIT (Acceptability) cont.



NASA

NASA

Scenario 02 – 1.0 ZIPLINE AIRLOCK (Acceptability)



Sce	enario ()2 – 1.0	ZIPLIN	NE AIR	LOCK	(Accep	otability) cont.			NAS
	Totally A No improvem and/or No	oceptable ents necessary deficiencies	Accept Minor improve and/or Minor	table ments desired deficiencies	Bords Improvemen and/or Modera	rlina ts warranted te deficiencies	Unacce Improvements Unacceptabl	ptable required and/or e deficiencies	Totally Un Major improve and/or Totally defici	acceptable ements required y unacceptable iencies	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
 Q2. The la Rating = 2 Comment Q3. The cc shape, coil Rating = 4 Comment 	nder deck for t 5 5 1 Height of th place (railin Consider pi the lander t Flush ziplin safety (inclu 3. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	ransfer operati e lander is reas- g, tether, etc.). accement of the o optimize for us e mount would is e mount would is uding fall and trij il SPLC contair s, etc.) handles were us ability entering a	ons (deck volu onable, but a sa zipline mount in ability. ncrease safety v o hazard) was n wer for use with ed with zip line i airlock.	me, lander he fety mechanism proximity to zip vhen davit is n ot considered, i a zipline (han hooks while ha	ight, etc.) In needs to be in when and edge o ot installed. If rating would be adrails, size, indrail was used	 Q4. The Rating Comment Q5. Travel Rating Rating Comment Comment 	number of cre = 2 mits: - Unlike th is less in sters of 1.0 SPI , disconnecting = 6 - Crewme containe clean du - Containe clean du - Containe clean du - Containe aided in - Mockup airlock a into airlo	w for this trans the DAVIT 1.0 th spact due to less .Cs through the container, sta mber inside airir r outside the ha st free environn rs were reorier area to prep for area to prep for ors were reorier setup potential nd required eith ck.	sfer method e further away t is walking. The Airlock hate acking contains lock at the EV h then to final corr next container next container next container next container airlock, addition	the HAB is from ch (hatch open ers, "dings" to hatch and discor he hatch seals a ew and containe onfiguration later for both crew in n recommended ner from smooth outside airlock	the logistics lande ing, Airlock hatch seals, etc.) inected the ind maintained a ar. r to allow focus on rgress. handrail h passage into or crew aid to pull



Scenario 03 – 1.0 ZIPLINE STAGING AREA (Acceptability)

	Totally Accepta	able Ac	eptable	Bord	erline	Unacce	ptable	Totally Un Major improve	acceptable ements required	
	No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies		and/or Minor deficiencies		Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies		Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies		y unacceptable iencies	
	1	2 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
• Q1.Usi • Rating • Comme	ng the zipline for t = 5 nts: - Loading and u - Zipline - Rope v - To mili - Contro - A trak - Improv The zipline att - Were t - Should - Hook a - SPLOS - Crew n - Zipline in Aifio - The tie - If ziplin seals, - Enable - For bot - To add	transfer operation (r unloading was straight I was slack which made igate issue, crew had to a line needs to be long e mechanism for the co- rement to the quick drat tachment point and poo too close to the edge of d be within the work em attachment should be c s ware loaded with the i member did not use the cok e off (receiving end) of the etwas tethered inside ed better control for the oth the zipline airlock and d extra stability for the r	each, attachme prward, his operation ineff hold one hand at r with a slack mar ntrol line would by vo facilitate loadi t the lunar lander p elope for most cr tanged to allow fo ttachment to the : cleat to tie off the he zipline could br he alriock, receivi orientation for sta d zipline staging a acceiving crew mer	Ints, loading/u Ticient, A realisti pove their head agement syste a ideal (magneti ng would be be varing would be	nloading con c zipline would to tighten the lir m (retractable o c or mechanical neficial, i.e., a n at should still all s on one zipline to allow the re had to retrieve 1 retrieved the 5 ock and minimizzing crew member LC retrieval an	tainers, quick be a taught wire le, which is not i r tended).). etractable portiol ow for multiple o ow for multiple o or no. ceiving crew me SPLCs ar from v/L without any o PLC outside th bed re-grips durii c can stand insid d dusting, an int	c draw, contro reasonable com on of the attachm container sizes, imber to grab th the zipline post lifference to the e hatch to process. Is the airlock to ernal handrail s	sidering suit mo nent. If possible, ne hard handle (position of the position of the ent inadvertent (enable stackin should be added	zipline post, bility. upon receiving tr control line in thu receiving crew r contact with the up and minimize d near the EV hi	he SPLC. bir hand). member. hatch dusting. atch

NASA

NASA

Scenario 03 - 1.0 ZIPLINE STAGING AREA (Acceptability) cont.



Scenario 03 – 1.0 ZIPLINE STAGING AREA (Acceptability) cont.

	_													
		Totally	Acceptable	Accep	itable	Bord	erline	Unacce	ptable	Totally Un	acceptable	1		
		No improven	nents necessary	Minorimprove	ments desired	Improvemen	nts warranted	Improvements required and/or		Major improvements required		1		
		and/or No	deficiencies	and/or Mino	and/or Minor deficiencies and/or Moderate deficiencies				e deficiencies	and/or Totally	/ unacceptable	1		
										defici	encies	1		
	1 2 3 4 5 6								8	9	10			
- Q - R - C	Q6. The conceptual dust migration procedures Rating = 5 Comments:								Q8. Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including risk to crew) for 1.0 SPLCs Rating = 5					
		 In the directi There and cr 	suit, wrist mobilit on (as opposed i needs to be a pr ew member mov	ty is limited so o to a "paintbrush" rocedure for dus rements.	perations may t ' technique). ting, including o	e • tom)	Comments:	More acceptabl	ie than Davit bu	it still needs imp	rovement			
		 A long stabili Without dustin 	y during dusting y during dusting ut a staging area g.	ould be helpful, , , stacking SPLC	along with hand is is preferred a	trails for single-	nizes							
- Q - R - C	7. The ating : omme	e cargo packi = 5 ents:	ng (i.e., layout o	of SPLCs) on th	e lander deck	for transfer op	erations							
		 Stacking 	g is helpful on th	ne lander platfor	m and on the lu	nar surface dur	ing transfer.							
		 Stackir mitigati 	g minimizes cre on.	w member bend	ing in the suit a	nd improves du	ist							
		 Stacki SPLCs 	ng also limits the	need to travel of	on the lunar land	der platform to r	etrieve							
		 Ensuri them to 	ng the SLPCs in tumble.	terface with one	another would	minimize the po	otential for							
	 Plus, pre-staged with integrated line to handles for easy interface to connect to line (i.e., like a running clothesline). 													
	 "A dry cleaner feeder capability" instead of one at a time. 													
												10		

NASA

NASA

Scenario 04 – 1.0 AIRLOCK TRANSFER OPS (Acceptability)

	Totally Acceptable	Acceptable	Borde	rline	Unacce	ptable	Totally Una	oceptable	
	No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies	Totally Acceptable Acceptable No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies 1 2 3 4 the containers See comments from previous scenarios. Summary: - 1) add "Lego type" capability to help stabilize stackin - 2) potential handrail notch or retract handrail for easi - 3) stacking like logs in airlock wont work unless have not rolling. - 4) could stack two vertical one horizontal - 5) can stack three high - 6) second row was in easy work envelope of 6) due to need capability to secure stack ntainer reconfiguration within the given airlock volume Stackid center/stod. Stackid containers needed to be moved around to acces 1,0 in airlock in this scenario		ts warranted ite deficiencies	Improvements Unacceptable	required and/or e deficiencies	Major improver and/or Totally deficie	ments required unacceptable encies	
	1 2	3 4	4 5	6	7	8	9	10	
Q1. Stacki Rating = 4 Comment	ng the containers s: See comments from previou Summary: - 1) add "Lego type" ca - 2) potential handrall r - 3) stacking like logs i not rolling. - 4) could stack two ve - 5) can stack three hig - 6) second row was in need capability to second	is scenarios. pability to help stabilize lotch or retract handrall f n airlock wont work unle: rtical one horizontal h easy work envelope of i cure stack	stacking. for easier stacking iss have brackets to hole 6) due to small space	- Q3, S - Ratin - Comr - Q4, C - Overa d risk to - Ratin - Comr	uit don/doff in 1 g = 2 ments: · Given onsensus Acco all acceptability o crew) g = 3 ments: · No co	the given airlo airlock volume aptability Ratin of using this t mments	ck volume suit don doff vol igs + Comment transfer method	ume was reaso ts d from end-to-	nable ≩nd (including
 Q2. Airloci Rating = 3 Comment: 	 k container reconfiguration w Stacking in airlock was cerenough space to walk one Stacked center/stbd. Half of the containers need 1.0 in airlock in this scenarion 	thin the given airlock of fered between two crew way around to access of ed to be moved around io	volume / don/doff stands with ther crew. to access other side.	15					

SEATEST 6 DAY 02

Crew Consensus 26 July 2023

Day 02 Simulation Quality

		SIMULATION QUALITY	SCALE			
1	2	3		4	5	
Simulation quality (e.g. hardware, software, procedures, comm., environment) presented either zero problems or only minor ones that had no impact to the validity of test data	Some simulation limitations or anomalies encountered, but minimal impact to the validity of test	Simulation limitations or and made test data marginally ad provide meaningful evaluati objectives (please describe)	omalies dequate to ion of test	Significant simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of major test objectives (please describe)	Major simulation limitations or anomalies precluded meaningful evaluation of all test objectives (please describe)	
 Q1. The environment as comparants management, offloading of Rating = 3 Comments: Slack in the zipline the airlock without Larger containers free platform, which is u resistance. 	red to expected lunar environme concept fidelity, etc.) allowed the 2.0 SPLC to stay on th contacting the hatch seals. orced crew members to the edge o nrealistic given the additional stabi	nt (1/6g effects,	Q2. The ((dusting) Commen	 Invironment's ability to provoke requirements, suit maneuverability Mechanisms No simulated mechanisms No simulated mechanisms System Fidelity A/L simulations challing (SCUs, donning stants) Recommend procedure, vo A/L height above the some of the test context (and the source of the test context) Mobility of the wetsuit (Kayak suit, shoulder boots all recommend) Height and size of the between them in the suit volume around th the suit, so it was mo limitations in that regional suit (SCUS) 	relevant operational consideratio lity, mechanism and system fidelit nism to lift 2.0 SPLC to the zipline he enging with majority of hardware mis ds, hatches, etc.) the addition of umbilical, suit donnin jumetric suit after doffing, dusting pr ground is low fidelity/unrealistic and clusions it is not comparable to that in the xEI limiter, 3D printed HUT, hockey glov ed additions for space suit simulatio e 2.0 SPLCs made it challenging to alricck while maintaining awareness he legs. No simulation mockup of low re challenging to consider size/volumion.	ns ty, etc cok. ising g rocedu J can a MU. ves, sk maneu s of the wer hal me

NASA

83

Scenario 05 – 2.0 ZIPLINE AIRLOCK (Acceptability)

	Totally Accepta	able	Accep	table	Borde	erline		Unacce	eptable	Totally Un	acceptable	
	No improvements n and/or No deficie	ecessary encies	Minor improvements desired Improvements and/or Minor deficiencies and/or Moderate			its warrante ate deficienc	ed cies	Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies		Major improve and/or Totally defici	ajor improvements required nd/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies	
	1	2	3	4	5	6		7	8	9	10	
 containers Rating = 7 Comments 	 Attachment Attachment Attachment Imitation). Bungee or F zipline attac The end poil zenith/nadir Accou ensur 	of the 2.0 s RET system ment point in order to unts for a v ring payloar	SPLCs to the zij recommended t. Joline inside the change the any arying distance ts clear the hat	when the second	challenging (sin bods handle to be adjustable airlock while stil	• Q • R • C	3. Th hape, ating	= 5 ents: - Height be in p - Consider edge (- Flush - Safety would e conceptual 1 , connection p = 6	t of the lander is blace (railing, tel der placement o of the lander to (davit mount wo) (including fall a be 3. large SPLC cor oints, etc.):	a reasonable, bi ther, etc.), of the davit mour optimize for usa uld increase saf and trip hazard) ntainer for use	it a safety mechi nt in proximity to bility. ety when davit i was not conside with a davit (h	
	Mechanisms – Locking mec – Longer cont magnetic, or Loads and Contain	chanism co trol line and r mechanic ners	uld reduce nee i control line ma al brake) requir	d for a hook sw nagement syste ed.	ap em (Velcro,		omm	• See q recom	uestion 1 for ad- mendations.	ditional commer	nts on tether poi	
	 Additional services of the service of	oft tether p ed at the c ter attachm hize reorien	oint/d-ring integ enter top of the ent. tation requirem	rated on a soft SPLC such tha ents once the S	goods handle t the load may t SPLC reaches ti	he						

NASA

14

NASA

Scenario 05 – 2.0 ZIPLINE AIRLOCK (Acceptability) cont.

Totally Acceptable Borderline Unacceptable Totally Unacceptable No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies Minor improvements desired and/or Moderate deficiencies Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 • C4. Transfer of 2.0 SPLCs through the Airlock opening. (Airlock volume, disconnecting container, stacking containers, "dings" to hatch seals, etc.): • Q5. The number of crew for this transfer method: • Rating = 7 • Comments: • Very straight forward due to the slack in the zipline (sim issue). • If two crewmembers are required to lift 2.0 SPLCs, an additional crew member on the lander is required. • We believe we could lift/move them with one crewmember. • No bumps on the hatch seals. • Center their point would have been helpful for unloading, avoiding the need for reorientation by the receiving crew member. • No bumps on the nether point would have been helpful for unloading, avoiding the need for reorientation by the receiving crew member. • G6. The conceptual dust migration procedures: • Rating = 5 • Comments: • Task didn't require container dust mitigation with this method. • In the suit, wrist mobility is limited so operations may be limited to one direction (as opposed to a "paintbrush" technique). • There needs to be a procedure for dusting, including order (top to bottom) and crew member movement											
No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 • Q4. Transfer of 2.0 SPLCs through the Airlock opening. (Airlock volume, disconnecting container, stacking containers, "dings" to hatch seals, etc.): • R4 img = 7 • 9 10 • Q5. The number of crew for this transfer method: • Rating = 7 • Comments: • Very straight forward due to the stack in the zipline (sim issue). • If two crew members are required to lift 2.0 SPLCs, an additional crew member on the lander is required in A/L. • We believe we could liftmove them with one crewmember. • No bumps on the hath seals. • Center tether point would have been helpful for unloading, avoiding the need for reorientation by the receiving crew member. • If two crew required in A/L. • No additional crew required in A/L. • No bumps on the hath seals. • If two crew required in A/L. • No additional crew required in A/L. • Off. The conceptual dust migration procedures: • No additional crew requir		Totally Acceptable	Acceptable	Bord	erline	Unacce	ptable	Totally Una	acceptable		
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 • Q4. Transfer of 2.0 SPLCs through the Airlock opening. (Airlock volume, disconnecting container, stacking containers, "dings" to hatch seals, etc.): • Rating = 3 • Q5. The number of crewfor this transfer method: • Rating = 7 • Comments: • Very straight forward due to the slack in the zipline (sim issue). • Easy to control. • We believe we could liftmove them with one crewmember. • No bumps on the hatch seals. • Center tether point would have been helpful for unloading, avoiding the need for reorientation by the receiving crew member. • Q6. The conceptual dust migration procedures: • No additional crew required in A/L. • Center tether point would have been helpful for unloading, avoiding the need for reorientation by the receiving crew member. • Q6. The conceptual dust migration procedures: • Rating = 5 • Comments: • Task didn't require container dust mitigation with this method. • In the suit, wrist mobility is limited so operations may be limited to one direction (as opposed to a "paintbrush" technique). • There needs to be a procedure for dusting, including order (top to bottom) and crew memberments. • A long handle brush would be helpful, along with handrails for single-footed stability during dusting. • Without a stabiling area, stacking SPLCs is preferred as stacking minimizes dusting.		No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies	Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies	Improvemen and/or Modera	Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies		required and/or e deficiencies	Major improve and/or Totally deficie	ments required unacceptable encies		
 Q4. Transfer of 2.0 SPLCs through the Airlock opening. (Airlock volume, disconnecting container, stacking containers, "dings" to hatch seals, etc.): Rating = 3 Very straight forward due to the stack in the zipline (sim issue). Easy to control. No bumps on the hatch seals. Center teher point would have been helpful for unloading, avoiding the need for reorientation by the receiving crew member. Q6. The number of crew for this transfer method: Rating = 7 Comments: If two crewmembers are required to lift 2.0 SPLCs, an additional crew member on the lander its required. We believe we could have been with one crewmember. No additional crew required in A/L. Q6. The conceptual dust migration procedures: Rating = 5 Comments: Task didn't require container dust mitigation with this method. In the suit, wrist mobility is limited so operations may be limited to one direction (as opposed to a "paintbrush" technique). There needs to be a procedure of adusting, including order (top to bottom) and crew member movements. A long handle brush would be helpful, along with handralis for single-footed stability during dusting. Without a staging area, stacking SPLCs is preferred as stacking minimizes dusting. 		1 2	3 4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
	Q4. Transfe disconnect Rating = 3 Comments	er of 2.0 SPLCs through the <i>i</i> ing container, stacking conta : Very straight forward due to Easy to control. No bumps on the hatch sea Center tether point would h need for reorientation by the	Airlock opening, (Airlock voi ainers, "dings" to hatch sea the slack in the zipline (sim is is. ave been helpful for unloading a receiving crew member.	ume, is, etc.): sue). . avoiding the	 Q5. The Rating : Comme Q6. The Rating : Comme 	number of cre = 7 ints: - If two crr member - We belie - No addit conceptual du = 5 ints: - Task did - In the su direction - There ne bottom) - A long h footed st - Without - Without - Market and - State -	w for this trans on the lander is we we could lift ional crew requi st migration pr n't require contri (as opposed to seds to be a pro and crew memb and rew memb and rew memb and grave m	sfer method: required to lift : required. move them with ired in A/L. rocedures: aliner dust mittigg is limited so op a "paintbrush" cedure for dust. uld be helpful, a usting. stacking SPLCs	2.0 SPLCs, an e n one crewmemt erations may be technique). ing, including or ilong with handr i is preferred as	dditional crew er. ethod. I limited to one der (top to ails for single- stacking	

	Totally Acceptable	Acceptable	Borderline	Unacceptable	Totally Unacceptable Major improvements required	
	No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies	Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies	Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies	Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies	and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies	
	1 2	3 4	5 6	7 8	9 10	
	If single crew member is on SPLCs, lifting/lowering devi A jack/palette could be invol	the lander and two is required ce is required. lved in packing.	to lift 2.0	 Handling heavy payload leads to additional crew 	ds with a single crew member o risk. A/L ops risk is minimal.	n the platforr
Sce	enario 06 — 2.0 Totally Acceptable No improvements necessary	O REVERSE D Acceptable Minor improvements desired	Borderfine Improvements warranted	Dility)	Totally Unacceptable Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable	
Sce	enario 06 – 2.0 Totally Acceptable No improvements necessary and/or No deficiencies 1 2	Acceptable Minor improvements desired and/or Minor deficiencies 3 4	Borderline Improvements warranted and/or Moderate deficiencies 5 6	ability) Unacceptable Improvements required and/or Unacceptable deficiencies 7 8	Totally Unacceptable Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies 9 10	N

Sce	enario 06 – :	2.0 REVI	ERSE D	AVIT (A	Accepta	ability)	cont.			NASA
	Totally Acceptable No improvements necess and/or No deficiencies	Aco any Minor impro and/or Min	eptable vements desired tor deficiencies	Bords Improvemen and/or Modera	arline Its warranted Ite deficiencies	Unacce Improvements Unacceptab	eptable required and/or le deficiencies	Totally Unacceptable Major improvements required and/or Totally unacceptable deficiencies		
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
 Q2. The lan Rating = 7 Comments Q3. The constance of th	der deck for transfer op Lander deck/davit plac substantially closer to – An unacceptab neeptual large SPLC con- nection points, etc.) We consider a 2.0 SPI Translation may requir Unloading the davit wa point on the SPLCs. Work requires su- Yawing the davit inboa lander edge. Davit needs to be needs to be able crew member sa barrier/wall. A telescoping/art issues.	rations (deck vol- ment and 2.0 geo he edge of the luna is level of risk. ainer for use with C feasible to be lift to two crew members a awkward conside batantial reorientat rd brought the crew more centered on to pitch to facilitate ely away from the culating davit could	ume, lander heij metry brings the ir lander platform a a zipline (hand ded by one crew i s. rring the lack of a ion. member very cli the lunar lander, these operators platform edge or d also alleviate si	ght, etc.) crew member rails, size, member. a centered tether ose to the lunar and keep the lunar lander ome of these	 Q4. Trat. Rating : Comme Q5. Size Rating : Comme 	nsfer of SPLCs = 6 • Dust ge a the op - Some lo mechan crew ma i e of Staging an = 2 ents: • Stacking area, sa • One cre • Hook is area wa	From A/L to st neration from di pen A/L hatch w wwering mechan ism for blocking miber would be Crew member wuld be Crew member would a the 2.0 SPLCs emed reasonab w member could mobile, so attac s reasonable.	taging area (be ragging the SPI vould be untena ism through the dust (door pro- staged outside vould receive the hen be able to of face. davit) as on top of each ble. d stack the SPI ching the hook to stack the SPI	elow davit) LC over the hatc ble. e A/L would be h tector?) could hu te SPLC from a (carry the SPLC a h other, using a 4 LCs. to SPLCs throug	h seal protector helpful. A sip. Ideally, one trew member few feet away is 2.0 SPLC shout the staging

18

NASA

Scenario 06 – 2.0 REVERSE DAVIT (Acceptability) cont.

	Totally Ao	ceptable	Accep	table	Bord	erline	Unacce	eptable	Totally Un	nacceptable	
	No improveme	nts necessary	Minor improve	ments desired	Improveme	nts warranted	Improvements	required and/or	Major improve	ements required	
	and/or No d	leficiencies	and/or Minor	deficiencies	and/or Moder	ate deficiencies	Unacceptabl	e deficiencies	and/or i otali defici	jencies	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
 Q6. The nun Rating = 4 Comments:	1 Additional crew would be help Centered teth the lander plat Mechanical/au go packing (i.e., Additional cre would be help Centered teth the lander plat Mechanical/au	2 r this transfer i w member at th full/efficient. tomatic release , layout of SPL w member at t pful/efficient. ter point would atom. utomatic release	3 method le lunar lander fo also be helpful v e of a payload w .Cs) on the lander he lunar lander i also be helpful v se of a payload v	4 or reorientation with a single cre rould be ideal. der deck for tr for reorientation with a single cre would be ideal.	5 assistance aw member on ansfer assistance aw member on	6 (incluc Rating Comm	7 verall acceptab ling risk to cre = 7 sents: • The se makes	8 ility of using th w) for 2.0 SPL0 wit is not a reas quirement for tv this scenario cl	9 inis transfer me Cs conable solution vo crewmember hallenging.	10 ethod from end n for 2.0 SPLCs. rs to translate th	to-end
											19

NASA Scenario 07 – 2.0 DAVIT (Acceptability) Totally Acceptable Totally Unacceptable Ur Major improvements required Minor improvements desired Improvements required and/or No improvements necessary Improvements warranted and/or Totally unacceptable and/or No deficiencies and/or Minor deficiencies and/or Moderate deficiencies Unacceptable deficiencies deficiencies 1 2 3 4 5 6 Q1. Using the Davit for transfer operations (reach, attachments, loading/unloading containers, davit handle, crank, hook, etc.) Rating = 6 Comments: Attachments - Centered tether point would also be helpful with a single crew member on the lander platform Loading/Unloading Davit as lifting device (did not maneuver 2.0 SPLCs toward davit, rather let out davit hook to meet SPLC soft good handles). Crewmember would then raise the SPLC slightly with the davit crank before yawing, enabling the payload to always clear the lunar platform edge. Mechanisms; · Use of the davit (cranking) is challenging. 20

Scenario 07 - 2.0 DAVIT (Acceptability) cont.

	Totally A	cceptable	Accep	table	Bord	erline			Unacce	ptable	Totally Un	acceptable
	No improvem and/or No	ents necessary deficiencies	Minor improve and/or Mino	ments desired r deficiencies	Improvemen and/or Modera	nts wa ate de	manted ficiencies	Impro	wements acceptable	required and/or e deficiencies	Major improve and/or Totally	ments required / unacceptable
							5		-		detic	encies
Q2. The lar Rating = 7 Comments	nder deck for tr s: - Largest con getting too c - Lander deci substantially	ransfer operation incern with the lai close to the edge k/davit placement y closer to the e	ons (deck volur nder deck was t e. nt and 2.0 geom dge of the lunar	ne, lander heig he size and the etry brings the lander platform	ght, etc.) crew member crew member		Q4. Size Rating = Comme	e of Sta = 6 ents:	Dust ger at the op Some Io A mecha crew me	heration from di ben A/L hatch w wering mechan inism for blocki mber would be	ragging the SPL ould be untenal ism through the ng dust (door pi staged outside	C over the hatc ble. A/L would be h rotector?) could the A/L.
 Q3. The co- connection Rating = 7 Comments W W Ur or 	enceptual 2.0 SF n points, etc.) s: ie consider a 2.0 nloading the dav the SPLCs. • Work require awing the davit in tige. • Davit needs be able to pil safely away	PLC container D SPLC feasible it was awkward as substantial re nboard brought to be more cent tch to facilitate t from the platform	for use with a c to be lifted by or considering the orientation. the crewmember ered on the lund hese operations in edge or lunar	lavit (handrails he crew membe lack of a center r very close to t and keep the c lander barre c	r, size, shape, red tether point the lunar lander arm needs to rew member vall		Q5. The Rating = Comme	e numb = 3 ents: •	A/L, ther surface. er of cre Two cre SPLCs t	t be able to car w for this trans w members see o hook them up	ry the SPLC a f sfer method amed suitable fo to the davit sec	ew feet away or or this operation amed inefficient

NASA

Scenario 07 - 2.0 DAVIT (Acceptability) cont. NASA Totally Ac Totally Unacceptable Major improvements required No improvements necessary Minor improvements desired Improvements warranted Improvements required and/or and/or Totally unacceptable and/or No deficiencies and/or Minor deficiencies and/or Moderate deficiencies Unacceptable deficiencies deficiencies 7 4 6 Q8. Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end Q6. The conceptual dust migration procedures Rating = 7 (including risk to crew) for 2.0 SPLCs Rating = 7 Comments: Comments: With our dust mitigation procedures, we would have kicked up a lot of dust Overall acceptability scores driven largely by proximity of crew at the A/L EV hatch over the hatch seal protector. member to lander platform edge and dust mitigation issues Dusting should occur further from the hatch seal or there needs to be additional protection in the proximity of the A/L. · Q7. The cargo packing (i.e., layout of SPLCs) on the lander deck for transfer operations Rating = 2 . · Comments: Suitable 22

Scenario 08 – 2.0 AIRLOCK TRANSFER OPS (Acceptability) NASA Totally Accontabl Totally Unacceptable Acc ntah Roedorlin Majori ents requ No improvements necessary Minor improvements desired Improvements warranted mprovements required and/or and/or Totally unacceptable and/or No deficiencies and/or Minor deficiencies and/or Moderate deficiencies Unacceptable deficiencies deficiencies Q1. Stacking the containers Q3. Suit don/doff in the given airlock volume . Rating = 4 Rating = 4 . Comments: Comments: If stacked 3 high, this is reasonable with minimal reconfig. If stacked 2 high, reconfig is required which would block one Stacking 2.0 SPLCs three-high was a huge efficiency and seemed reasonable for two crew members. suit port at a time. . 8 2.0 SPLCs stacked seemed better than 16 1.0 SPLCs. . To manage unstacking the containers, crew member used one hand on the soft good handles and used one hand to tend the SPLC as it slid toward the A/L floor. Q4. Consensus Acceptability Ratings + Comments Overall acceptability of using this transfer method from end-to-end (including . risk to crew) . Rating = 4 Q2. Airlock container reconfiguration within the given airlock volume Comments: Rating = 4 Overall acceptable if we are able to stack SPLCs 3 high. Comments: If stacked 3 high, A/L volume easily manageable If 2 high, one suit port would likely be blocked to allow one crew member to assist the other to doff their suit. If 2.0 SPLCs are stacked 2 high both forward in front of the IV hatch and aft/port or stbd around the EV hatch, maneuvering in the corridor created by the SPLCs would be too tight in the suit. If one of the suit ports is blocked by SPLCs, this becomes more . manageable

23

SEATEST 6 DAY 03

Crew Consensus 27 July 2023

SA

25

Day 03 – CAPABILITY DATA CAPABILITY ASSESSMENT SCALE Moderately Enhancing Moderately Capabilities are only marginally used or useful only on very rare occasions 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 30 21. The davit transfer concept Rating = 2 Comments: 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 30 3. The davit transfer concept Mating = 2 Comments: Some mechanism to lift the PLCs which has a flexible loading/unloading davit used in this test. - 1 23. Additional Comments: - 1 Depending on the height of the lander, some mechanism da a couple tings: - 1 10. Ift the cargo to the attach point - 2) Deliver the cargo to the attach point - 2) Deliver the cargo to the attach point - 2) Deliver the cargo to the lander, some mechanism da a couple tings: - 1 10. Ift the cargo to the lander, some mechanism da a couple tings: - 1 </th <th>N</th>	N									
			c	APABILITY ASS	ESSMENT SCAL	LE				
Essent	al/Enabling	Significantly	y Enhancing	Moderately	y Enhancing	Marginally	y Enhancing	Little to No I	Enhancement	
Impossible or I perform missio	ighly inadvisable to n without capability	Capabilities significantly enh aspects of	are likely to ance one or more the mission	Capabilities like enhance one or n mission or signific mission on r	ly to moderately nore aspect of the antly enhance the are occasions	Capabilities an useful or useful occi	e only marginally only on very rare asions	Capabilities are any reasonab circum	not useful under Ny foreseeable Istances	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
Rating = 2 Comments:	Some mechanism capability is essent The lunar platform This capability ass davit used in this tu Rather, crew consi platform to the sur the A/L. e transfer concept Allows for potential fract way to transfer	to lift the PLCs w tial to the mission is too high to saf essment does no est. ider some mecha face essential sin t	thich has a flexibi ely operate witho t include the func nism to transfer p ce not all payload fer.	e loading/unloadii ut such a mechan tionality of the sp bayloads from the is need to go dire	ng hism. kecific lunar hctly to	 Deperdo a c - Seem: certain Efficience - - - 	Inding on the heigh couple things: 1) Lift the cargo to 2) Deliver the cargo to 2) Deliver the car is intuitive to use th place. Int operations: Difficult to use the The davit conceptions like the 2.0 A combination or	nt of the lander, si o the attach point go to the lunar si he zipline to lowe e zipline to raise - t is good for liftin; SPLC or MPLC) hybrid of these to	ome mechanism t urface/directly to i r equipment dust equipment. g equipment (esp wo concepts wou	is need the airlo t free to becially Id be u
•	The attachment por requires lifting. These are limitation However, the dust While we might ac requirement for su	ns of the zipline ns of the zipline. free transfer met hieve mission suc ch operations wo	are restrictive, a hod and ease of ccess without the uld be prohibitive	nd the attachmen transfer is worthw zipline, the time	t itself mile.					

Day 03 – CREW DEBRIEF

NASA

- Q1. Any other general thoughts on cargo logistics lander configurations (e.g., how logistics are packaged on a lander for offloading) and capabilities (e.g., specs for ladders, davits, winches, etc.)? E.g., can you envision lander details that are extremely prohibitive vs. extremely mission enhancing, etc.? · Comments:
 - Safety
 - Feel strongly that some railing or safety mechanism is required for operations on the lander deck.
 - Can be a rail/strap guard around the perimeter or a tether system which allows you to continue operations while restricting you to the safe area of the lander deck.
 - Ladder
 - Ladder mockup had a helpful height to allow crew members to push through the gap between the ladder handrails while cleaning the PLSS.
 - Height was good for the alternate method of swinging around one handrail to get to the ladder rails with your feet
 - A sloped ladder would aid the crewmember in ascending/descending with the weight of the suit and PLSS (estimate 5-15deg).
 - Mechanisms:
 - Concept of a winch operation to lift and lower payloads of various sizes and mass is a valuable concept, however there are significant problems with the current davit iteration. 1) The metabolic demands to manually operate a crank to lower and raise a hook is unacceptable.
 - It is very difficult in current suit designs with the existing shoulder mobility capabilities to freely operate a crank handle such as the manual davit in SEATEST-6.
 - · Even if the shoulder mobility of the next gen spacesuit could support that kind of mobility, the metabolic demands of such an operation are not sound. It would use up a lot of resources, namely time and oxygen, which was reflected in the increased air usage from the SCUBA tanks for the astronaut that was manually operating the davit.
 - A solution would be to have an electric motor operated by push buttons or pedal design with manual operation as a backup » 2) Having the ability to offset payloads closer or farther from the davit is useful.
 - Effectively, being able to adjust the cosine of the davit angle (the arm of the davit is the hypotenuse) can bring payloads closer or further away.
 - Being able to increase the offset of payloads is helpful if the payload is large and needs to be offset further to avoid hitting the lander platform as it's being lowered.
 - There are a couple ways to accomplish this.
 - Make the pitch of the davit adjustable or use a telescoping davit arm.
 We'll leave it to the engineers to figure out the best solution to accomplish the function we are looking for.
 3) The yawing capability of the davit is very important but feel having a pedal to lock/unlock the davit yaw angle in place would be helpful, similar to how the APFR on station has a pedal to unlock/lock its yaw angle.

Day 03 – CREW DEBRIEF

· Q2. Any other general thoughts on dust mitigation strategies for logistic transfer ops?

- Comments:
 - Dust mitigation with the zipline into the airlock was great.
 - Should be some way to raise and lower the attach point on the rover to account for different distances away from the lander platform to create the correct angle for the equipment to slide into the airlock.
 - Tarps could be used in temporary staging areas.
 - Possibly some type of grating at the entrance to the airlock to rest/set dusty equipment.
 - A "foot brush" also could help to wipe off feet and equipment.

· Q3. What are your thoughts on the current logistics manifest for a 14-day rover mission for a crew of 2 (i.e., all 15 of the 1.0 SPLCs + 8 of the 2.0 SPLCs)? How do you propose we think about logistics for -7 to 30-day surface mission (e.g., in pressurized rover and/or surface habitat)? What are your recommendations for determining (e.g., through analysis, testing + eval, etc.) what quantity of logistics is appropriate for these missions? Comments:

- MPLC with transfer port is much preferred over the 1.0, 2.0 solutions
- Space and dust mitigation are optimized with MPLC design.
- If MPLCs are not feasible, the size of 2.0 SPLCs seem preferable to 1.0s to minimize extra volume taken up by the containers.
- See suggestions in scenario feedback regarding requirements for handles and stacking.

· Q4. What are your concerns and recommendations with regard to our ability to simulate the lunar surface environment and Artemis mission operations in these SEATEST analog tests?

- Comments:
 - The major concerns are:
 - 1) lack of ability to simulate the space suit (the addition of a 3-d printed HUT, gloves, boots, or some sort of mobility restraint would add fidelity to this test).
 - 2) the additional stability added by water resistance giving the crewmember an unrealistic sense of safety on the lunar lander platform
 - 3) the addition of a realistic safety system on the lander deck is essential in the real lunar environment, so should be mocked up here.
 - 4) Finally, weight the subject to lunar gravity (1/6 g) while working on the mockup.

 Q5. Any other feedback (e.g., for logistic handling) Comments:

A fulcrum over the A/L hatch protector could be helpful to move large loads in/out of the A/L easily, especially if two crew members are required to lift the load

26

NASA